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Before: WESLEY, CHIN, and SULLIVAN, Circuit 
Judges. 

This is a class action lawsuit brought by shareholders 
of Defendant-Appellant Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. The 
shareholders allege that Goldman and several of its exec-
utives committed securities fraud in violation of § 10(b) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b–5 
promulgated thereunder by misrepresenting Goldman’s 
freedom from, or ability to combat, conflicts of interest in 
its business practices. The shareholders argue that sev-
eral high-profile government fines and investigations re-
vealed the truth of Goldman’s flawed conflicts manage-
ment to the market thereby reducing its share price.  

Several years ago, the United States District Court for 
the Southern District of New York (Crotty, J.) certified a 
shareholder class under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 
23(b)(3). In 2018, we vacated the class certification order, 
holding that the district court had failed to apply the “pre-
ponderance of the evidence” standard for determining 
whether Goldman had rebutted a legal presumption, 
known as the Basic presumption, that the shareholders 
relied on Goldman’s alleged misstatements in purchasing 
its stock at the market price. We remanded for the court 
to apply the correct standard and to consider Goldman’s 
evidence intended to rebut the Basic presumption.  

On remand, the district court certified the class once 
more. Goldman argues on legal and evidentiary grounds 
that this decision was an abuse of discretion. On the law, 
Goldman contends that the court misapplied the inflation-
maintenance theory for demonstrating price impact. It 
also argues that we should modify the theory to exclude 
what it terms “general statements.” On the evidence, 
Goldman argues that the court erroneously rejected its 
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rebuttal evidence in holding that it failed to rebut the 
Basic presumption.  

The district court applied the correct legal standard 
and we find no abuse of discretion in its weighing of Gold-
man’s rebuttal evidence. We AFFIRM. Judge Sullivan 
dissents in a separate opinion. 

OPINION 

WESLEY, Circuit Judge.  

This is the second time this securities class action has 
arrived at our doorstep on a  Rule 23(f) appeal. The first 
time we took the case, the United States District Court 
for the Southern District of New York (Crotty, J.) had 
certified under Rule 23(b)(3) a shareholder class suing 
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. and a handful of its executives 
(collectively, “Goldman”) for securities fraud. We vacated 
the class certification order, holding that the district court 
did not apply the “preponderance of the evidence” stand-
ard for determining whether Goldman had rebutted a le-
gal presumption, known as the Basic presumption, that 
the shareholders relied on Goldman’s allegedly material 
misstatements in choosing to purchase its stock at the 
market price. See Ark. Teachers Ret. Sys. v. Goldman 
Sachs Grp., Inc. (ATRS I), 879 F.3d 474, 484–85 (2d Cir. 
2018); see also Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 245–
48, 108 S. Ct. 978, 99 L.Ed.2d 194 (1988). We also held that 
the court erroneously declined to consider some of Gold-
man’s evidence of “price impact”—that is, the question of 
whether the revelation that Goldman’s statements were 
false affected its share price. See ATRS I, 879 F.3d at 485–
86. 

On remand, the district court ordered additional brief-
ing and held an evidentiary hearing. After concluding that 
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Goldman failed to rebut the Basic presumption by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence, the court certified the class 
once more. See In re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 
No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2018 WL 3854757 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 
14, 2018). We again granted Goldman’s petition for per-
mission to appeal under Rule 23(f). 

The question before us is whether the district court 
abused its discretion by certifying the shareholder class, 
either on legal grounds or in its application of the Basic 
presumption. For the following reasons, we hold that it 
did not. 

BACKGROUND 

I.   FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The facts giving rise to this lawsuit are discussed at 
length in our prior opinion. See ATRS I, 879 F.3d at 478–
82. All that is required here is an abridged version. 

Between 2006 and 2010, Goldman made the following 
statements about its business practices: 

Our reputation is one of our most important assets.  As 
we have expanded the scope of our business and our 
client base, we increasingly have to address potential 
conflicts of interest, including situations where our 
services to a particular client or our own proprietary 
investments or other interests conflict, or are per-
ceived to conflict, with the interest of another cli-
ent. . . .  

We have extensive procedures and controls that are 
designed to identify and address conflicts of inter-
est. . . .  

Our clients’ interests always come first. Our experi-
ence shows that if we serve our clients well, our own 
success will follow. . . .   



5a 

We are dedicated to complying fully with the letter 
and spirit of the laws, rules and ethical principles that 
govern us. Our continued success depends upon un-
swerving adherence to this standard. . . . 

Most importantly, and the basic reason for our suc-
cess, is our extraordinary focus on our clients. . . . 

Integrity and honesty are at the heart of our business. 

J.A. 87–88, 93 (alterations omitted). The Plaintiffs-Appel-
lees (“shareholders”)—individuals and institutions hold-
ing shares of Goldman’s common stock—allege that these 
statements were false because Goldman made them while 
knowing that it was riddled with undisclosed conflicts of 
interest. 

The conflicts at issue here surround several collateral-
ized debt obligation (“CDO”) transactions involving sub-
prime mortgages. Chief among them is the Abacus 2007 
AC-1 (“Abacus”) transaction. Publicly, Goldman mar-
keted Abacus as an ordinary asset-backed security, 
through which investors could buy shares in bundles of 
mortgages that the investors, and presumably Goldman, 
hoped would succeed. But behind the scenes, Goldman 
purportedly allowed the hedge fund Paulson & Co. to play 
an active role in selecting the mortgages that constituted 
the CDO. And Paulson, which bet against the success of 
the Abacus investment through short sales, chose risky 
mortgages that it “believed would perform poorly or fail.” 
Id. at 59. The alleged plan worked, and Paulson made 
roughly $1 billion at the expense of the CDO investors 
(who are not the plaintiffs here). Goldman ultimately ad-
mitted that it failed to disclose Paulson’s role in the port-
folio selection, and it reached a $550 million settlement 
with the SEC—the largest-ever penalty paid by a Wall 
Street firm at the time. See generally Press Release, 
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SEC, Goldman Sachs to Pay Record $550 Million to Set-
tle SEC Charges Related to Subprime Mortgage CDO 
(July 15, 2010), https://www.sec.gov/news/press/2010/ 
2010-123.htm. Goldman allegedly engaged in similar con-
duct with respect to three other CDOs. At times, Goldman 
allegedly represented to its investors that it was aligned 
with them when it was in fact short selling against their 
positions. 

II.  EARLY LITIGATION HISTORY 

In 2011, the named plaintiffs filed a class action com-
plaint in the United States District Court for the Southern 
District of New York, seeking under Federal Rule of Civil 
Procedure 23(b)(3) to represent a class of all individuals 
and entities that acquired shares of Goldman’s common 
stock between February 5, 2007 and June 10, 2010. They 
alleged that Goldman and several of its directors violated 
§ 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 
10b–5 promulgated thereunder. See 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); 17 
C.F.R. § 240.10b–5. The crux of their claim is that Gold-
man’s representations about being conflict free artificially 
maintained an inflated stock price and that the revelations 
of Goldman’s conflicts, such as those presented by the 
SEC in its complaint against Goldman concerning the Ab-
acus deal, were “corrective disclosures” that caused the 
market to devalue their Goldman shares.1 They noted, for 
example, that Goldman’s share price dropped 13% when 
the SEC filed a securities-fraud complaint against Gold-
man in connection with the Abacus transaction, and that 
it dropped even further on two later dates when news 

                                                 
1 A “corrective disclosure” is an announcement or series of an-

nouncements that reveals to the market the falsity of a prior state-
ment. See Lentell v. Merrill Lynch & Co., 396 F.3d 161, 175 n.4 (2d 
Cir. 2005). 
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broke that several federal agencies were investigating 
Goldman for its role in the other conflicted transactions. 
In the shareholders’ view, these announcements revealed 
to the market that Goldman had created “clear conflicts 
of interest with its own clients” by “intentionally 
packag[ing] and s[elling] . . . securities that were designed 
to fail, while at the same time reaping billions for itself or 
its favored clients by taking massive short positions” in 
the same transactions. J.A. 49. They claim that they lost 
over $13 billion as a result of Goldman’s fraud. 

Goldman moved to dismiss the complaint under Fed-
eral Rules of Civil Procedure 9(b) and 12(b)(6). It argued 
that the alleged misstatements were not, as the securities 
law requires, “material.”2 This was because, in Goldman’s 
view, the statements were too general and vague for a rea-
sonable shareholder to have relied on them in determin-
ing the value of Goldman’s stock. Thus, Goldman argued, 
the statements had no impact on its stock price, and any 
loss the shareholders suffered was due to something other 
than the corrective disclosures. The district court largely 
disagreed, holding that most of Goldman’s statements 
presented an actionable question of materiality. See Rich-
man v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 868 F. Supp. 2d 261, 
276, 280 (S.D.N.Y. 2012). The court did, however, agree 
with Goldman that some of its statements were immate-
rial as a matter of law; it dismissed the complaint to the 
extent it relied upon those statements. See id. at 274. The 

                                                 
2 The six elements of securities fraud are “(1) a material misrepre-

sentation or omission by the defendant; (2) scienter; (3) a connection 
between the misrepresentation or omission and the purchase or sale 
of a security; (4) reliance upon the misrepresentation or omission; (5) 
economic loss; and (6) loss causation.” Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC 
v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148, 157, 128 S.Ct. 761, 169 
L.Ed.2d 627 (2008). 
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court subsequently denied Goldman’s motions for recon-
sideration of, and an interlocutory appeal from, the order 
denying the motion to dismiss. See In re Goldman Sachs 
Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2014 WL 
2815571, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. June 23, 2014) (reconsideration); 
In re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 10 Civ. 
3461 (PAC), 2014 WL 5002090, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 7, 
2014) (appeal). 

III. CLASS CERTIFICATION AND THE FIRST             
APPEAL 

Following discovery, the shareholders moved for class 
certification. To certify a class under Rule 23 of the Fed-
eral Rules of Civil Procedure, the named plaintiffs must 
demonstrate (1) that the class is so numerous that joinder 
is impracticable, (2) that at least one question of law or 
fact is common to the class, (3) that the class representa-
tives’ claims are typical of the classwide claims, and (4) 
that the class representatives will be able to fairly and ad-
equately protect the interests of the class. See Fed. R. Civ. 
P. 23(a). Goldman did not contest that these requirements 
were met. Instead, it focused on an additional prerequisite 
for classes primarily seeking money damages, found in 
Rule 23(b)(3), that common questions of law or fact pre-
dominate over individual questions that pertain only to 
certain class members. See id. 23(b)(3). 

Facially, securities fraud appears to be a bad fit for the 
predominance requirement because the key question is 
whether each individual shareholder relied on a defend-
ant’s misstatement in choosing to purchase its stock. But 
under Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 108 S. Ct. 978, 
99 L.Ed.2d 194, courts may presume reliance on a class-
wide basis if the plaintiffs “establish certain prerequi-
sites—namely, that [the] defendants’ misstatements were 
publicly known, their shares traded in an efficient market, 
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and [the] plaintiffs purchased the shares at the market 
price after the misstatements were made but before the 
truth was revealed.” ATRS I, 879 F.3d at 481; see Halli-
burton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc. (Halliburton II), 
573 U.S. 258, 268, 134 S. Ct. 2398, 189 L.Ed.2d 339 (2014).3 
The idea behind Basic is that investors presume that the-
oretically efficient markets, such as the New York Stock 
Exchange or Nasdaq, incorporate all public information—
including material misstatements—into a share price. See 
485 U.S. at 246, 108 S. Ct. 978; see generally 7 William B. 
Rubenstein, Newberg on Class Actions §§ 22:16, 22:81 
(5th ed.). 

Plaintiffs seeking to invoke the Basic presumption 
need not directly prove that the defendant’s statements 
had price impact—that is, an effect on its share price. See 
Halliburton II, 573 U.S. at 278–79, 134 S. Ct. 2398. They 
may instead rely on the requirements for invoking the 
Basic presumption as an “indirect proxy” for a showing of 
price impact. See id. at 281, 134 S. Ct. 2398. “But an indi-
rect proxy should not preclude . . . a defendant’s direct, 
more salient evidence showing that the alleged misrepre-
sentation did not actually affect the stock’s market price 
and, consequently, that the Basic presumption does not 
apply.” Id. at 281–82, 134 S. Ct. 2398; see also Basic, 485 
U.S. at 248, 108 S. Ct. 978 (noting that “[a]ny showing that 
severs the link between the alleged misrepresentation 
and . . . the price received (or paid) by the plaintiff . . . will 

                                                 
3 Materiality is also a prerequisite for Basic, but class members 

need not prove it prior to class certification. See Halliburton II, 573 
U.S. at 276, 134 S. Ct. 2398. 

 



10a 

be sufficient to rebut the presumption of reliance” be-
cause “the basis for finding that the fraud had been trans-
mitted through market price would be gone”). 

Goldman attempted to rebut the Basic presumption in 
several ways. It introduced an event study designed to 
show that its alleged misstatements had no impact on its 
share price.4 It also argued that the market did not react 
on several dozen occasions before the corrective-disclo-
sure dates when media outlets reported on its alleged con-
flicts of interest; and, thus, the market was indifferent to 
this information when it appeared in the corrective disclo-
sures. Under Goldman’s theory, its share price declined 
solely because of new information contained in the correc-
tive disclosures: that several federal agencies were en-
forcing the securities laws against Goldman with investi-
gations and fines for the same allegedly fraudulent trad-
ing practices. 

The district court rejected Goldman’s theory and cer-
tified the class. See In re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. 
Litig., No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2015 WL 5613150 
(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 24, 2015). We vacated this decision on ap-
peal. See ATRS I, 879 F.3d at 478. We began our analysis 

                                                 
4 An event study isolates the stock price movement attributable to 

a company (as opposed to market-wide or industry-wide movements) 
and then examines whether the price movement on a given date is 
outside the range of typical random stock price fluctuations observed 
for that stock. If the isolated stock price movement falls outside the 
range of typical random stock price fluctuations, it is statistically sig-
nificant. If the stock price movement is indistinguishable from ran-
dom price fluctuations, it cannot be attributed to company-specific in-
formation announced on the event date. See Mark L. Mitchell & Jef-
fry M. Netter, The Role of Financial Economics in Securities Fraud 
Cases: Applications at the Securities and Exchange Commission, 49 
Bus. Law. 545, 556–69 (1994); In re Vivendi, S.A. Sec. Litig., 838 F.3d 
223, 253–56 (2d Cir. 2016). 
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by noting Goldman’s concession that the shareholders 
successfully invoked the Basic presumption. Id. at 484. 
But as to the rebuttal stage, we found that the district 
court failed to apply the “preponderance of the evidence” 
standard, which our Court had clarified in an intervening 
decision. Id. at 485 (citing Waggoner v. Barclays PLC, 875 
F.3d 79, 101 (2d Cir. 2017)). We also found that, in making 
this determination, the court mistakenly concluded that 
certain price-impact evidence Goldman had sought to in-
troduce was irrelevant under Rule 23. Id. at 486. We re-
manded for the court to reconsider, under the correct 
standard and with this additional evidence, whether Gold-
man could rebut the Basic presumption. Id. We offered no 
views on the merits of that question or the sufficiency of 
Goldman’s rebuttal evidence. Id. 

IV. PROCEEDINGS ON RECORD 

On remand, the district court accepted supplemental 
briefs from the parties and held an evidentiary hearing 
and oral argument. It framed the issue as whether Gold-
man could “demonstrate[ ], by a preponderance of the ev-
idence, that the alleged misstatements had no price im-
pact.” In re Goldman, No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2018 WL 
3854757, at *2. 

Although Goldman bore the burden of persuasion, the 
district court first looked to the shareholders’ evidence in-
tended to show the shortcomings of Goldman’s rebuttal 
argument. It characterized the shareholders’ claims as 
resting on an “inflation-maintenance” theory: that “the 
misstatements themselves did not inflate the stock price, 
[but] allegedly served to maintain an already inflated 
stock price.” Id.5 The court credited evidence from 

                                                 
5 This theory is sometimes referred to as the “price-maintenance 

theory,” and what we term “inflation-maintaining statements” are 
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Dr. John D. Finnerty, the shareholders’ expert who testi-
fied at the evidentiary hearing, “that the news of Gold-
man’s conflicts on the . . . corrective disclosure dates neg-
atively impacted Goldman’s stock price.” Id. at *4. It con-
cluded that “Dr. Finnerty’s model, at the very least, es-
tablishes a link between the news of Goldman’s conflicts 
and the subsequent stock price declines.” Id. 

The district court then turned to evidence presented 
by two of Goldman’s experts to rebut the Basic presump-
tion. The first expert, Dr. Paul Gompers, cited news arti-
cles published on thirty-six dates prior to the corrective 
disclosures discussing aspects of Goldman’s conflicts. As-
serting that the content of the reports was no different 
than the content of the corrective disclosures, and noting 
that Goldman’s share price did not meaningfully move on 
the dates of the reports, Dr. Gompers concluded that the 
market was indifferent to the news of Goldman’s conflicts. 
The court found this evidence was “not persuasive.” Id. 
Although it agreed (as did Dr. Finnerty) that Goldman’s 
stock price did not move on the thirty-six dates, it found 
that “[t]he absence of price movement, . . . in and of itself, 
is not sufficient to sever the link between the first correc-
tive disclosure and the subsequent stock price drop.” Id. 
This was because “the [Abacus] complaint was the first to 
expose hard evidence of Goldman’s client conflicts” by its 
inclusion of “direct quotes from damning emails . . . [and] 
internal memoranda, disclosing hard evidence that Gold-
man had indeed engaged in conflicts to its own ad-

                                                 
sometimes called “price-maintaining statements.” We use the “infla-
tion” language because it is more precise and the phrase “price-
maintenance” also has currency in antitrust law. See also Vivendi, 838 
F.3d at 258 (dubbing this doctrine the “inflation-maintenance the-
ory”).   
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vantage.” Id. at *5. The court found that this hard evi-
dence and other “material information” about “the nature 
and extent of Goldman’s client conflicts” “had not been de-
scribed in any of the 36 more generic reports on conflicts.” 
Id. at *4.6 It found that Dr. Gompers did not “credibly ex-
plain[ ] how such hard evidence did not contribute to the 
price decline following the first corrective disclosure.” Id. 
at *5. 

The district court was similarly unpersuaded by Gold-
man’s second expert, Dr. Stephen Choi. Dr. Choi pre-
sented an event study concluding that, because “the con-
flicts were reported on 36 separate occasions with no price 
movement, the . . . price drops [following the corrective 
disclosures] must have been due exclusively to the news 
of enforcement activities [such as the Abacus complaint].” 
Id. at *3 (citation omitted). Dr. Choi identified three “fac-
tors” descriptive of the Abacus complaint: it was not ac-
companied by a concurrent resolution, it included scien-
ter-based allegations, and it charged an individual defend-
ant in addition to Goldman. Id. He used a data set of 117 
enforcement actions and identified four involving these 
same factors. The average share price decline following 
those four enforcement events was 8.07%. Because Gold-
man’s share price declined by 9.27% following the Abacus 
disclosure, and Dr. Choi found that the 1.2% difference 
was not statistically significant, he opined that the entire 

                                                 
6 The court noted that the articles “vary significantly” and that, 

while some “suggest possible or theoretical conflicts[,] . . . others ap-
pear to be a cri de couer from sworn enemies . . . [or] not damaging 
or revelatory, but rather commendatory . . . prais[ing] Goldman for 
managing its conflicts and still outperforming competitors.” Id. at *4 
n.6. 

 



14a 

price drop was due to the news of the enforcement action, 
rather than the revelation of Goldman’s conflicts. 

The district court found that “Dr. Choi’s conclusion 
[was] not supported by his event study.” Id. at *5. To 
begin, it noted that Dr. Choi looked only at the Abacus 
complaint and did not examine the other corrective disclo-
sures; the court found there was “no good reason to ex-
tend [his] findings” to those disclosures. Id. The court also 
found Dr. Choi’s three “factors” were “arbitrary charac-
teristics,” emphasizing that Dr. Choi conceded “he was 
the first person to use [the factors] together” and that the 
factors “are not generally accepted in the field.” Id. The 
court then explained that the four enforcement events 
from Dr. Choi’s study were different than the Abacus 
event because they did not involve allegations of misman-
agement of conflicts of interest or companies with compa-
rable size or operations to Goldman. The court further 
found the event study did not account for the misconduct 
allegations underlying each event. It also noted that 
Dr. Choi’s study did not produce statistically significant 
results because it looked to the average price decline of 
only four events (out of a population of 117) with a large 
variance: declines of 3.34%, 3.73%, 8.13%, and 17.09%. Fi-
nally, the court faulted Dr. Choi for comparing the Gold-
man price decline to the four events using a two-sample 
t-test, which some authorities have explained “is not ap-
propriate for small samples drawn from a population that 
is not [statistically] normal.” Id. at *6 (quoting Butt v. 
United Bhd. of Carpenters & Joiners of Am., 2016 WL 
3365772, at *1 (E.D. Pa. June 16, 2016) (quoting Federal 
Judicial Center, Reference Manual on Scientific Evidence 
(3d ed.))). 

In light of Goldman’s deficient evidence, and reaffirm-
ing that “Dr. Finnerty’s opinion demonstrate[ed] the 
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price impact of [the] alleged misstatements,” the district 
court held that Goldman “failed to rebut the Basic pre-
sumption by a preponderance of the evidence.” Id. at *6. 
It certified the class. Id. We granted Goldman’s petition 
for interlocutory appeal. 

DISCUSSION 

“[W]e review the [district court’s] grant of class certi-
fication for an abuse of discretion, and the legal conclu-
sions underlying that decision de novo.” ATRS I, 879 F.3d 
at 482 n.7. “When a case involves the application of legal 
standards, we look at whether the [district court’s] appli-
cation ‘falls within the range of permissible decisions.’” Id. 
(quoting Waggoner, 875 F.3d at 92).  

Goldman argues for reversal on two general grounds. 
First, it contends that the district court misapplied the in-
flation-maintenance theory, which it asks us to modify. 
Second, based largely on the court’s evidentiary findings, 
Goldman argues that the court abused its discretion by 
holding that Goldman failed to rebut the Basic presump-
tion by a preponderance of the evidence. 

I.    THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED 
THE INFLATION-MAINTENANCE THEORY, 
AND WE REJECT GOLDMAN’S INVITATION TO 
NARROW IT. 

In the classic § 10(b) case, a corporation’s sharehold-
ers allege that a corporation, in financial statements or 
through its officers, made false statements that caused 
them to overvalue its stock. As noted above, the question 
of whether the statements actually affected the market 
price is called “price impact.” We have held that two types 
of false statements can have price impact. See In re Vi-
vendi, S.A. Sec. Litig., 838 F.3d 223, 257 (2d Cir. 2016). 
The first category is inflation-introducing statements. 
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Shareholders relying on an inflation-introduction theory 
claim that the corporation’s false statements “introduced” 
inflation into its share price because the market believed 
them to be true and reacted accordingly. See id. 

The second category is inflation-maintaining state-
ments. These statements have price impact not because 
they introduce inflation into a share price, but because 
they “maintain” it. See id. Imagine, for example, that ma-
jor media outlets report a false rumor that a record label 
plans to sell a secretly recorded Beatles album containing 
a dozen unreleased songs. Although the record company 
played no role in starting or spreading this rumor, its 
share price increases from $60 to $70 because the market 
believes the rumor and thinks the album will be profitable. 
Not wanting to disappoint the public, the company’s CEO 
confirms the rumor even though she knows it is false. 
While the CEO’s misstatement does not move the record 
company’s share price—which stays at $70 because the 
market has already incorporated the album’s predicted 
profits—the statement is fraudulent because it maintains 
the artificial inflation. Had the CEO told the truth, the 
share price would have returned to $60. The “inflation-
maintenance” theory allows shareholders to claim they 
relied on statements like these when suing for securities 
fraud. 

Our original case on the inflation-maintenance theory 
is Vivendi, 838 F.3d 223. There, we joined the Seventh and 
Eleventh Circuits in holding that “theories of ‘inflation 
maintenance’ and ‘inflation introduction’ are not separate 
legal categories.” Id. at 259 (quoting Glickenhaus & Co. v. 
Household Int’l, Inc., 787 F.3d 408, 418 (7th Cir. 2015), 
and citing FindWhat Inv’r Grp. v. FindWhat.com, 658 
F.3d 1282, 1316 (11th Cir. 2011)). On that basis, we held, 
“securities-fraud defendants cannot avoid liability for an 
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alleged misstatement merely because the misstatement is 
not associated with an uptick in inflation.” Id.  

Goldman raises two objections to the district court’s 
application of the inflation-maintenance theory: (A) in its 
view, the theory applies only when alleged misstatements 
prop up “fraud-induced inflation” and the court failed to 
make a finding to this effect; and (B) the court erred by 
finding that what Goldman describes as “general state-
ments” can ever satisfy the inflation-maintenance theory. 

A. The Inflation-Maintenance Theory Does Not Re-
quire Proof of Fraud-Induced Inflation, and the 
District Court Applied the Correct Standard in 
Concluding that Goldman’s Share Price Was 
Inflated. 

It should be apparent that a statement cannot main-
tain price inflation unless the price is already inflated. See 
id. at 255. Accordingly, a court allowing plaintiffs to claim 
inflation maintenance must make a finding of price infla-
tion. The parties agree on this basic principle. But Gold-
man would add that the price inflation must have been 
“fraud-induced.” It draws this putative rule from Vi-
vendi.7 

Vivendi said no such thing. In fact, the sentence from 
which Goldman plucks “fraud-induced” contradicts Gold-
man’s claim. “Artificial inflation is not necessarily fraud-
induced, for a falsehood can exist in the market (and 
thereby cause artificial inflation) for reasons unrelated to 

                                                 
7 Appellant Br. 29 (“Although a stock’s price can be inflated for any 

number of reasons, the securities laws are concerned only with ‘fraud-
induced’ inflation, Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 256, which is ‘the difference 
between the stock price and what the price would have been if the 
defendants had spoken truthfully,’ Glickenhaus, 787 F.3d at 418.”).   
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fraudulent conduct.” Id. at 256 (emphasis added). Accord-
ingly, “the question of . . . . liability for securities fraud 
. . . . does [not] rest on whether the market originally ar-
rived at a misconception about the model’s safety on its 
own, or whether the company led the market to that mis-
conception in the first place.” Id. at 259.8 

Thus, the actual issue is simply whether Goldman’s 
share price was inflated. Goldman argues that the district 
court made no finding to this effect. We disagree. This 
Court, like every Court of Appeals that has adopted the 
inflation-maintenance theory, has held that if a court finds 
a disclosure caused a reduction in a defendant’s share 
price, it can infer that the price was inflated by the amount 
of the reduction. See id. at 255 (“The best way to deter-
mine the impact of a false statement is to observe what 
happens when the truth is finally disclosed and use that to 
work backward, on the assumption that the lie’s positive 
effect on the share price is equal to the additive inverse of 
the truth’s negative effect.” (quoting Glickenhaus, 787 
F.3d at 415)). 

                                                 
8 The Vivendi defendant made essentially the same argument as 

Goldman in opposing the adoption of the inflation-maintenance the-
ory. In rejecting it, we explained its inconsistency with the theory.   

[I]t is hardly illogical or inconsistent with precedent to find that 
a statement may cause inflation not simply by adding it to a stock, 
but by maintaining it. Were this not the case, companies could 
eschew securities-fraud liability whenever they actively perpetu-
ate (i.e., though affirmative misstatements) inflation that is al-
ready extant in their stock price, as long as they cannot be found 
liable for whatever originally introduced the inflation. Indeed, un-
der Vivendi’s approach, companies (like Vivendi) would have 
every incentive to maintain inflation that already exists in their 
stock price by making false or misleading statements.   

Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 258.   
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The district court found that “[t]he inflation was 
demonstrated on [the corrective-disclosure] dates, when 
the falsity of the misstatements was revealed.” In re Gold-
man, No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2018 WL 3854757, at *2. It 
also credited Dr. Finnerty’s testimony that “the price de-
clines following these corrective disclosures were caused 
by the news of Goldman’s conflicts.” Id. We find no abuse 
of discretion in the court’s finding that the inflation main-
tained by Goldman’s statements equaled the price drop 
caused by the corrective disclosures. 

B. We Decline Goldman’s Request to Narrow the 
Inflation-Maintenance Theory. 

Although these findings satisfy the inflation-mainte-
nance doctrine, Goldman asks us to narrow the doctrine’s 
focus. Under Goldman’s proposed revision, what it terms 
“general statements” would be legally insufficient as evi-
dence of price impact. Plaintiffs relying on such state-
ments would be unable to invoke the Basic presumption 
of classwide reliance and would therefore be unable to 
demonstrate under Rule 23(b)(3) that classwide issues 
(i.e., reliance on the defendant’s misstatements) predomi-
nate over individual issues.  

Goldman’s theory is as follows. In its view, “[c]ourts 
have applied the narrow price maintenance theory only in 
two ‘special circumstances.’” Appellant Br. 35 (citation 
omitted).9 The first is “‘unduly optimistic statement[s]’ 

                                                 
9 Although Goldman repeatedly frames inflation maintenance as a 

“narrow” alternative to inflation introduction, this is incorrect. In the 
wake of the Supreme Court’s 2014 decision in Halliburton II, securi-
ties plaintiffs invoked the inflation-maintenance theory in 20/28 (71%) 
of federal district court cases involving a defendant’s attempt to rebut 
the Basic presumption. See Note, Congress, the Supreme Court, and 
the Rise of Securities-Fraud Class Actions, 132 Harv. L. Rev. 1067, 
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about specific, material financial or operational infor-
mation made to ‘stop[] a [stock] price from declining.” Id. 
(quoting Schleicher v. Wendt, 618 F.3d 679, 683 (7th Cir. 
2010)). The second is statements “falsely ‘convey[ing] that 
the company ha[s] met market expectations’ about a spe-
cific, material financial metric, product, or event.” Id. 
(quoting In re Scientific-Atlanta, Inc. Sec. Litig., 571 F. 
Supp. 2d 1315, 1340–41 (N.D. Ga. 2007)). Unsurprisingly, 
Goldman argues that neither special circumstance ac-
counts for the alleged misstatements at issue here.  

In effect, what Goldman has done is surveyed nation-
wide inflation-maintenance cases (some Rule 23 decisions, 
some not), claimed that each case fits one of its special cir-
cumstances, and thereby concluded that these are the 
only permissible applications of the theory. The problem 
for Goldman is that none of these cases held that the in-
flation-maintenance theory applies so narrowly, at the 
Rule 23 stage or otherwise. Nor do they distinguish “gen-
eral” statements from “specific” ones. They simply apply 
the theory, which every Court of Appeals to adopt it has 
held covers all material misstatements, to the facts before 
them.10 

                                                 
1077 (2019). In all twenty of those cases, the district court held that 
the defendant failed to rebut the Basic presumption. Id.   

10 It is unsurprising that Goldman’s survey of Rule 23 cases did not 
uncover ones involving truly general statements. As explained below, 
courts regularly dismiss securities claims predicated on such state-
ments under Rule 12(b)(6) because they are too immaterial to induce 
reliance. Because courts virtually never entertain contested Rule 23 
motions prior to the conclusion of the pleading stage, class certifica-
tion opinions rarely involve what Goldman deems to be impermissibly 
general statements. Put differently, Rule 12(b)(6) weeds out unmeri-
torious cases before they ever get to the Rule 23 stage.   
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Goldman concedes that ATRS I “did not address 
whether general statements, like those challenged here, 
are capable of maintaining inflation in a stock price as a 
matter of law” for the purpose of class certification. Id. at 
48. It characterizes the issue as one of “first impression in 
this Circuit.” Id. In its view, we should adopt this rule be-
cause the Supreme Court’s decision in Halliburton II al-
lows lower courts to consider evidence of price impact at 
the Rule 23 stage, and so-called general statements like 
those at issue here “are incapable of maintaining inflation 
in a stock price for the same reasons that those state-
ments are immaterial as a matter of law (as well as fact).” 
Id. (citing Halliburton II, 573 U.S. at 283).  

We reject Goldman’s proposed revision of our infla-
tion-maintenance doctrine.  

As noted earlier, one of the elements a securities plain-
tiff must prove to succeed on her claim is that the defend-
ant’s misstatements were “material” enough to induce the 
reliance of reasonable shareholders. But “materiality . . . . 
is not an appropriate consideration at the class certifica-
tion stage.” ATRS I, 879 F.3d at 486. “Because a failure of 
proof on the issue of materiality . . . . does not give rise to 
any prospect of individual questions overwhelming com-
mon ones, materiality need not be proved prior to Rule 
23(b)(3) class certification.” Amgen Inc. v. Connecticut 
Ret. Plans & Tr. Funds, 568 U.S. 455, 474 (2013).11 

                                                 
11 Goldman argues that it can challenge materiality at the Rule 23 

stage. In its view, Amgen held only that Rule 23 courts “need not” 
consider materiality, not that they may not do so. To whatever extent 
Amgen is ambiguous, Halliburton II is clear that Rule 23 courts may 
not consider materiality. See 573 U.S. at 282 (“[M]ateriality . . . . 
should be left to the merits stage, because it does not bear on the pre-
dominance requirement of Rule 23(b)(3).” (emphasis added)). And 
ATRS I conclusively settled the matter in this circuit.   
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Goldman is not formally asking for a materiality test. 
But its “special circumstances” test would commandeer 
the inflation-maintenance theory by essentially requiring 
courts to ask whether the alleged misstatements are, in 
Goldman’s words, “immaterial as a matter of law.” Appel-
lant Br. 48. This is the precise question posed by materi-
ality.12 

Goldman’s authority for what constitutes an imper-
missibly “general statement” provides further evidence 
that its “special circumstances” test is really a means for 
smuggling materiality into Rule 23. Its brief contains a ta-
ble of nearly a dozen cases holding that “general state-
ments . . . . about business principles and conflicts con-
trols are too general to cause a reasonable investor to rely 
upon them.” Id. at 43–46 (quotation marks and citation 
omitted). But every one of these cases is the dismissal of 
a securities claim under Rule 12(b)(6) on the ground that 
the alleged misstatements were too general to be mate-
rial.13 None of them concern the issue here of whether so-
called general statements that made it past the pleading 
stage can survive under Rule 23.  

                                                 
12 See, e.g., United States v. Litvak, 808 F.3d 160, 175 (2d Cir. 2015) 

(“Where the misstatements are so obviously unimportant to a reason-
able investor that reasonable minds could not differ on the question 
of their importance, we may find the misstatements immaterial as a 
matter of law.” (emphasis added, quotation marks and citation omit-
ted)).   

13 See, e.g., In re UBS AG Sec. Litig., No. 07 Civ. 11225 (RJS), 2012 
WL 4471265, at *36 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 28, 2012) (holding on a motion to 
dismiss that “the statements are non-actionable puffery and do not 
constitute material misstatements”), aff’d sub nom., 752 F.3d 173 (2d 
Cir. 2014); Indiana Pub. Ret. Sys. v. SAIC, Inc., 818 F.3d 85, 97–98 
(2d Cir. 2016) (holding on a motion to dismiss the challenged state-
ments do not “ris[e] to the level of materiality required to form the 
basis for assessing a potential investment”).   
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Of course, just because something looks like material-
ity does not mean it is materiality. Price impact also re-
sembles materiality, but defendants may attempt to dis-
prove it at class certification. See Halliburton II, 573 U.S. 
at 282. But here, we need not elevate function over form. 
There are three compelling reasons for rejecting Gold-
man’s argument.  

First, and most fundamentally, Goldman’s proposed 
rule is difficult to square with Rule 23(b)(3). Whether al-
leged misstatements are too general to demonstrate price 
impact has nothing to do with the issue of whether com-
mon questions predominate over individual ones. While 
Goldman’s test might weed out potentially unmeritorious 
claims, Rule 23 is not a weed whacker for merits prob-
lems. As the Supreme Court explained in Amgen: 

Although we have cautioned that a court’s class-certi-
fication analysis must be “rigorous” and may “entail 
some overlap with the merits of the plaintiff’s under-
lying claim,” Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 564 U.S. 
338, 351 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted), 
Rule 23 grants courts no license to engage in free-
ranging merits inquiries at the certification stage. 
Merits questions may be considered to the extent—
but only to the extent—that they are relevant to deter-
mining whether the Rule 23 prerequisites for class 
certification are satisfied. 

568 U.S. at 465–66 (emphasis added).14 This is why mate-
riality is irrelevant at the Rule 23 stage. Win or lose, the 
issue is common to all class members. Id. at 468.  

                                                 
14 See also, e.g., Sykes v. Mel S. Harris & Assocs. LLC, 780 F.3d 70, 

81 (2d Cir. 2015) (applying Amgen’s rule); Fezzani v. Bear, Stearns & 
Co. Inc., 777 F.3d 566, 569–70 (2d Cir. 2015) (same).   
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The same is true here, in no small part because Gold-
man’s test is materiality by another name. If general 
statements cannot maintain price inflation because no rea-
sonable investor would have relied on them, then the 
question of inactionable generality is common to the class. 
For that reason, “the class is entirely cohesive: It will pre-
vail or fail in unison. In no event will the individual circum-
stances of particular class members bear on the inquiry.” 
Id. at 460.  

Second, Goldman’s formulation of the inflation-
maintenance theory is at odds with Vivendi. That opinion, 
relying on the Seventh and Eleventh Circuits whose doc-
trine it adopted, noted that “theories of ‘inflation mainte-
nance’ and ‘inflation introduction’ are not separate legal 
categories.’” Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 259 (quoting Glicken-
haus, 787 F.3d at 418).15 Goldman’s proposed rule, by ap-
plying only to inflation-maintaining statements, would 
make inflation maintenance and inflation introduction 
“separate legal categories.” Goldman points to no author-
ity holding that “general statements” like those suppos-
edly at issue here are legally insufficient to establish in-
flation introduction.  

Third, this Court has implicitly rejected Goldman’s 
“special circumstances” test. Waggoner, a Rule 23(f) ap-
peal allowing shareholder plaintiffs to invoke the infla-
tion-maintenance theory, involved claims that a high-
ranking Barclays trader told a magazine that it “moni-
tored activity in [a certain high-frequency exchange] and 

                                                 
15 See also Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 259 (quoting FindWhat, 658 F.3d 

at 1316, for the proposition that “[t]here is no reason to draw any legal 
distinction between fraudulent statements that wrongfully prolong 
the presence of inflation in a stock price and fraudulent statements 
that initially introduce that inflation”).   
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would remove traders who engaged in conduct that disad-
vantaged [its] clients.” 875 F.3d at 87. The trader else-
where stated that the high-frequency system was “built 
on transparency” and “had safeguards to manage toxicity, 
and to help its institutional clients understand how to 
manage their interactions with high-frequency traders.” 
Id. (citation, quotation marks, and brackets omitted). 

It is true that Barclays’ statements were about a spe-
cific high-frequency exchange, while Goldman’s chal-
lenged statements were more generally about its controls 
for handling conflicts of interest. But Goldman’s alleged 
lack of, or disregard for, these controls is the specific 
problem that led to the corrective disclosures. See, e.g., 
J.A. 5716 (quoting Goldman as alleging to have “extensive 
procedures and controls that are designed to identify and 
address conflicts of interest”). That Barclays mentioned a 
specific exchange does little to distinguish its statements 
from those at issue here; each is an alleged misrepresen-
tation about general business practices.  

* * * 

We are not blind to the widespread understanding 
that class certification can pressure defendants into set-
tling large claims, meritorious or not, because of the finan-
cial risk of going to trial. See, e.g., In re Rhone-Poulenc 
Rorer Inc., 51 F.3d 1293, 1298 (7th Cir. 1995) (Posner, J.). 
Rule 23’s in terrorem effect is the reason Congress au-
thorized interlocutory appeals under Rule 23(f). See Fed 
R. Civ. P. 23 advisory committee’s note (1998). 

Referencing these legitimate policy concerns, Gold-
man argues that rejecting its theory would open the flood-
gates to unmeritorious litigation by allowing courts to cer-
tify classes that it believes should lose on the merits. Spe-
cifically, it argues that “[i]f allegations of misconduct 
caused a stock to drop, then investor plaintiffs could just 
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point to any general statement about the company’s busi-
ness principles or risk controls and proclaim ‘price 
maintenance.’” Appellant Br. 52–53. 

This would indeed be troubling. But our law already 
beats back this parade of horribles in three meaningful 
ways.  

First, materiality challenges are fair game under Rule 
12(b)(6). Dismissal at that early stage of the litigation pre-
vents the case from ever reaching Rule 23. As Goldman’s 
table of materiality cases demonstrates, courts regularly 
dismiss securities complaints because the challenged 
statements were too general to have induced reliance. In 
fact, the district court in this case dismissed some of the 
alleged misstatements for this very reason. See Richman, 
868 F. Supp. 2d at 274. As to the statements before us 
now, the court rejected Goldman’s materiality challenge, 
holding that the shareholders plausibly stated a claim for 
securities fraud. Id. at 279–80. Right or wrong, we lack the 
authority to review that decision at this time.16 Rule 23 
does not give defendants a do-over on materiality.17  

Second, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure do offer 
securities defendants a do-over on materiality prior to 
trial: summary judgment. Goldman has already moved for 
summary judgment in the court below. See District Court 
Docket, ECF No. 168 (Nov. 6, 2015). One of its arguments 
is that the alleged misstatements are immaterial as a mat-
ter of law. See id. at 15–17.  

                                                 
16 We express no opinion on whether the misstatements at issue 

here are material.   
17 Defendants may also, as Goldman did here, seek a district court’s 

permission to take an interlocutory appeal from decisions denying 
motions to dismiss on materiality grounds.   
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Third, even though defendants may not challenge ma-
teriality at the Rule 23 stage, they may present evidence 
to disprove price impact when seeking to rebut the Basic 
presumption. Here, for example, Goldman presented 
event studies and testimony from multiple experts. The 
district court found this evidence insufficient—a finding 
we turn to momentarily. But in appropriate cases, courts 
will decline to certify classes on this ground.  

In sum, while securities class action defendants have 
numerous avenues for challenging materiality, Rule 23 is 
not one of them. The inflation-maintenance theory does 
not discriminate between general and specific misstate-
ments. 

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS 
DISCRETION BY HOLDING THAT GOLDMAN 
FAILED TO REBUT THE BASIC PRESUMP-
TION BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVI-
DENCE. 

Goldman’s second argument is that the district court 
abused its discretion in holding that Goldman failed to re-
but the Basic presumption. To the extent a “ruling on a 
Rule 23 requirement is supported by a finding of fact, that 
finding is reviewed under the ‘clearly erroneous’ stand-
ard.” In re Salomon Analyst Metromedia Litig., 544 F.3d 
474, 480 (2d Cir. 2008), abrogated on other grounds by 
Amgen, 568 U.S. 455.  

The plaintiff bears the initial burden of demonstrating 
that the prerequisites for the Basic presumption are met. 
Waggoner, 875 F.3d at 95. The prerequisites a plaintiff 
must prove prior to class certification are “that [the] de-
fendants’ misstatements were publicly known, their 
shares traded in an efficient market, and [the] plaintiffs 
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purchased the shares at the market price after the mis-
statements were made but before the truth was revealed.” 
ATRS I, 879 F.3d at 481; see Halliburton II, 573 U.S. at 
268, 276. Goldman conceded in the prior appeal that these 
prerequisites are met here. ATRS I, 879 F.3d at 484.  

Once the plaintiff makes this showing, § 10(b)’s reli-
ance requirement is presumptively satisfied. Waggoner, 
875 F.3d at 95. At that point, the burden shifts to the de-
fendant to rebut the presumption. Id. at 101–03. It may do 
so by showing, by a preponderance of the evidence, that 
the entire price decline on the corrective-disclosure dates 
was due to something other than its alleged misstate-
ments. “[M]erely suggesting that another factor also con-
tributed to an impact on a security’s price does not estab-
lish that the fraudulent conduct complained of did not also 
impact the price of the security.” Id. at 105.18 The plaintiff 
may also, as the shareholders did here, present evidence 
of price impact to demonstrate the shortcomings of the 
defendant’s rebuttal evidence. But it bears repeating that 
to invoke Basic, the shareholders need not prove price im-
pact directly. See Halliburton II, 573 U.S. at 277–79. 

                                                 
18 Although this rule places a heavy burden on defendants, a more 

relaxed alternative would be illogical under Basic. If a corrective dis-
closure decreases a defendant’s share price on a given date, the plain-
tiffs have a claim for securities fraud. That other events may have also 
decreased the share price on that date does not change this fact; it 
simply complicates the task of determining the effect of the corrective 
disclosure by creating a need to isolate it from the effects of the other 
events. By presuming reliance when its prerequisites are satisfied, 
Basic places the burden of untangling these events on the defendant. 
Thus, for a defendant to erase the inference that the corrective dis-
closure had price impact—i.e., that it played some role in the price 
decline—it must demonstrate under the preponderance-of-the-evi-
dence standard, using event studies or other means, that the other 
events explain the entire price drop.   
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As outlined above, the district court applied the pre-
ponderance standard, credited the shareholders’ expert’s 
theory, and rejected the theories of Goldman’s experts. 
Goldman argues that the court (A) erroneously construed 
Goldman’s rebuttal evidence and (B) misapplied the pre-
ponderance standard in holding that Goldman failed to re-
but the Basic presumption.  

A. The District Court Did Not Misconstrue Gold-
man’s Evidence in Holding that It Failed to Re-
but the Basic Presumption. 

Because the Basic presumption applies, Goldman 
bears the burden of rebutting it. It must show by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence that the entire price decline 
on the corrective-disclosure dates was due to something 
other than the corrective disclosures. See Waggoner, 875 
F.3d at 105. Goldman challenges the district court’s find-
ing that its evidence was insufficient to satisfy this bur-
den.  

1. Goldman’s primary contention is that the district 
court clearly erred by “ignor[ing] the substance of [the] 
press reports” preceding the corrective disclosures that 
touched on its conflicts. Appellant Br. 62. In Goldman’s 
view, the market’s nonreaction to these reports proved 
that it was indifferent to the revelation that Goldman’s 
statements about being conflict free were untrue.  

The district court reviewed each of the news reports 
and concluded by a preponderance of the evidence that 
“[t]he absence of price movement [on these dates], . . . . in 
and of itself, is not sufficient to sever the link between the 
first corrective disclosure and the subsequent stock price 
drop.” In re Goldman, No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2018 WL 
3854757, at *4. This was because the disclosures, and par-
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ticularly the initial Abacus complaint, “included new ma-
terial information that had not been described in any of 
the 36 more generic reports on conflicts.” Id. This newly 
revealed “hard evidence of Goldman’s client conflicts” in-
cluded “direct quotes from damning emails . . . . [and] in-
ternal memoranda,” as well as details about “the manner 
in which Goldman . . . . hid[] Paulson’s role in asset selec-
tion.” Id. at *4–5. The court also noted that because these 
details were “disclosed by a federal government agency,” 
they were “obviously . . . . more reliable and credible than 
any of the 36 media reports, especially in the presence of 
the denials and rebuttals that accompanied some of the 
reports.” Id. at *4. The court further found that some of 
the reports “were not damaging or revelatory, but rather 
commendatory” praise of Goldman’s risk management. 
Id. at *4 n.6.  

We find no clear error in the district court’s weighing 
of the evidence. The court applied the correct legal stand-
ard and reasonably concluded by a preponderance of the 
evidence that the corrective disclosures revealed new and 
material information to the market. Goldman has no per-
suasive response to the court’s findings that the “hard ev-
idence” first revealed in the corrective disclosures moved 
the market in a way that the news reports did not. 

Although it is possible that Goldman’s price declined 
in part because the market feared that Goldman would be 
fined, this is not enough to rebut the Basic presumption. 
Moreover, there are good reasons to believe that the cor-
rective disclosures were more significant than Goldman 
makes them out to be. Because the inflation-maintenance 
theory asks “what would have happened if [the defendant] 
had spoken truthfully,” Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 258, Gold-
man’s burden is to show that the market would not have 
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reacted had Goldman told the truth about its alleged fail-
ure to manage its conflicts. It is difficult to imagine that 
Goldman’s shareholders would have been indifferent had 
Goldman disclosed its alleged failure to prevent employ-
ees from illegally advising clients to buy into CDOs that 
were built to fail by a hedge fund secretly shorting the in-
vestors’ positions. It is therefore reasonable to assume 
that this disclosure would have harmed Goldman’s repu-
tation, causing at least some of its clients and potential cli-
ents to seriously reconsider trusting Goldman with their 
money. This lost revenue would have reduced Goldman’s 
bottom line and caused the market to devalue its share 
price accordingly. These adverse consequences have 
nothing to do with the threat of enforcement actions, and 
everything to do with how Goldman managed its conflicts 
of interest. 

2. Goldman also argues that the district court did not 
“address the generality of [the corrective disclosures 
other than the Abacus complaint].” Appellant Br. at 62–
63. In its view, these disclosures were “far less detailed 
than the press reports of client conflicts.” Id. at 63.  

It is true that the district court focused largely on the 
Abacus complaint. But so did Goldman. As the court 
found, Dr. Choi “performed no event study concerning 
stock price declines following the [other] corrective disclo-
sures.” In re Goldman, No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2018 WL 
3854757, at *5. The burden of rebutting the Basic pre-
sumption was on Goldman, not the district court. The 
court’s finding that the Abacus disclosure had a price im-
pact suffices at this stage for the reasons noted above.  

3. Finally, Goldman makes a one-paragraph argument 
that the district court misconstrued Dr. Choi’s event 
study. As noted above, the court found extensive flaws 
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with Dr. Choi’s study and gave little weight to his conclu-
sions. 

Goldman does not meaningfully engage with the dis-
trict court’s detailed rejection of Dr. Choi’s report. Its 
most substantial argument is that the court erroneously 
found that Dr. Choi’s opinion rested on “the premise that 
the first price decline is consistent with price declines that 
four other companies previously experienced upon the 
news of similar enforcement events.” Id. Goldman argues 
that Dr. Choi actually concluded that the price declines 
were “not statistically significantly different.” Appellant 
Br. 67. Even if the court mistakenly referred to con-
sistency rather than a lack of statistically significant dif-
ference—and elsewhere it used the “statistically differ-
ent” terminology, see In re Goldman, No. 10 Civ. 3461 
(PAC), 2018 WL 3854757, at *3—the difference is split-
ting hairs. Goldman does not clearly explain how this sub-
tle difference in terminology renders clearly erroneous 
the court’s extensive reasons for rejecting Dr. Choi’s con-
clusions. Nor do Goldman’s remaining arguments point to 
an abuse of discretion.  

B. The District Court Correctly Applied the Pre-
ponderance Standard in Weighing the Evidence 
of Price Impact.   

Although Goldman bears the burden of persuasion, it 
focuses heavily on the supposed lack of evidence the 
shareholders introduced to undermine its contention that 
its statements had no price impact.19 

                                                 
19 That Goldman focuses on the shareholders’ evidence, and the dis-

trict court began its analysis with this evidence, should not obscure 
the fact that Goldman bears the burden of persuasion at this stage. 
Once the shareholders successfully invoke Basic, which happened 
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1. Goldman first contends that the shareholders “sub-
mitted no evidence of fraud-induced inflation in Goldman 
Sachs’ stock price that the challenged statements main-
tained.” Appellant Br. 55. Thus, Goldman argues, the dis-
trict court’s finding that the shareholders invoked Basic 
rested on allegations, rather than evidence. As explained 
above, we reject Goldman’s contention that the sharehold-
ers were required to submit evidence of “fraud-induced” 
inflation. We therefore take Goldman’s argument as one 
that the shareholders failed to submit any evidence of 
price inflation.  

We noted in Part I that “[t]he best way to determine 
the impact of a false statement is to observe what happens 
when the truth is finally disclosed and use that to work 
backward, on the assumption that the lie’s positive effect 
on the share price is equal to the additive inverse of the 
truth’s negative effect.” Vivendi, 838 F.3d at 255 (quoting 
Glickenhaus, 787 F.3d at 415). This is precisely what the 
district court did: 

The Court accepts Dr. Finnerty’s [the shareholders’ 
expert] opinion that the news of Goldman’s conflicts on 
the . . . . corrective disclosure dates negatively im-
pacted Goldman’s stock price. It is only natural that 
“economically significant negative news,” such as 
these, would at least contribute to the stock price de-
clines. Defendants attempt to undermine Dr. Fin-
nerty’s opinion, claiming in part that the underlying 
damages model is “completely made up.” That over-
states the matter. Dr. Finnerty’s model, at the very 

                                                 
here, the question is not which side has better evidence, but whether 
the defendant has rebutted the presumption.   
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least, establishes a link between the news of Gold-
man’s conflicts and the subsequent stock price de-
clines. That is sufficient. 

In re Goldman, No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2018 WL 3854757, 
at *4 (emphasis added, citations omitted).  

We thus find no merit in Goldman’s contention that the 
district court accepted Dr. Finnerty’s model at face value 
or that it credited mere allegations.20 The court reviewed 
the evidence, traced the price declines back to Goldman’s 
alleged misstatements, and credited Dr. Finnerty’s re-
port. For Goldman’s argument to have any force, it would 
need to show that the court clearly erred by accepting 

                                                 
20 In critiquing the district court’s purported lack of findings, Gold-

man homes in on the word “allegedly” in the following passage:  

[The shareholders] claim that the alleged misstatements had im-
pact on Goldman’s stock price. Although the misstatements 
themselves did not inflate the stock price, they allegedly served 
to maintain an already inflated stock price. The inflation was 
demonstrated on [several] dates, when the falsity of the misstate-
ments was revealed . . . .  

In re Goldman, No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2018 WL 3854757, at *2. This 
language leads Goldman to conclude that the “[district court] gave no 
indication that it actually weighed competing evidence or found 
facts,” and instead “accepted at face value [the shareholders’] and 
their expert’s ‘alleg[ation]’ that the challenged statements ‘served to 
maintain an already inflated stock price.” Appellant Br. 55 (citation 
omitted). But Goldman misreads the district court’s opinion. The lan-
guage it quotes unremarkably lacks factual conclusions because it is 
from an impartial summary of the shareholders’ evidence—what one 
might call the facts section of the opinion. The court saved its conclu-
sions for the analysis section, where, as we have found, it made the 
necessary findings.   
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Dr. Finnerty’s findings. Goldman has failed to make this 
showing.21 

2. Goldman also argues that the news of its alleged 
conflicts could not have caused its share price to decline 
on the corrective-disclosure dates because its alleged mis-
statements were “consistent” with the later-revealed fact 
that it had significant conflicts of interest. Specifically, 
Goldman contends that statements such as “potential or 
perceived conflicts could give rise to litigation or enforce-
ment actions,” J.A. 5716, “expressly warned” the market 
that it might have conflicts, meaning the market should 
not have been surprised to learn that Goldman was in fact 
conflicted, Appellant Br. 61. This is doubtful. In effect, 
Goldman is arguing that a reasonable investor would have 
believed its vague statement was “consistent” with the 
revelation that it allegedly failed to prevent its employees 
from colluding with hedge funds to trick investors into 
buying risky securities. The district court did not abuse 
its discretion by rejecting that theory.  

Goldman is free to make its merits arguments at sum-
mary judgment or trial. The issue here is simply whether 
the district court abused its discretion by finding that 
Goldman failed to rebut the Basic presumption by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence. We find no abuse of discretion 
in the court’s reasonable conclusion that Goldman failed 
to meet this burden. 

                                                 
21 Goldman additionally asserts that Dr. Finnerty’s testimony im-

plied that on one date, “70% of Goldman Sachs’ $20.6 billion market 
capitalization was ‘inflation’ maintained by [the alleged misstate-
ments].” Appellant Br. 58. The shareholders accuse Goldman of 
cherry picking this data point using a date from the height of the fi-
nancial crisis. We find no clear error in the district court’s decision to 
choose one reasonable interpretation of the evidence over another.   
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III. THE DISSENT 

Our colleague Judge Sullivan disagrees with our ulti-
mate conclusion. In his view, Goldman and its co-defend-
ants “offered persuasive and uncontradicted evidence 
that Goldman’s share price was unaffected by earlier dis-
closures of Defendants’ alleged conflicts of interest.” Dis-
sent Op. at 1. But the issue before us is not whether Judge 
Sullivan was persuaded; that task fell to Judge Crotty 
who conducted the hearing, heard the testimony, carefully 
reviewed all the evidence and analyzed the conclusions of 
the experts. Unlike Judge Sullivan, Judge Crotty was not 
persuaded. Judge Crotty was clear in his reasoning and 
we have reviewed it at length in our opinion through the 
lenses of clear error, abuse of discretion and Goldman’s 
burden. See supra at 15–19, 36–46.  

We also disagree with our colleague’s characterization 
that Goldman’s evidence was “uncontradicted.” Goldman 
bore the burden of rebutting the Basic presumption. 
Judge Crotty concluded that Goldman’s proffer simply 
came up short. The shareholders pointed out, through 
their expert and through comparisons of the news stories 
on which Goldman tied its fate here, that the conclusions 
of Goldman’s experts were wanting if there were not 
equivalencies between the news stories and the “correc-
tive disclosures.”22 Judge Crotty agreed with the share-
holders; his opinion reflects his reasoning in this regard. 

                                                 
22 The dissent is quite critical of Judge Crotty’s (and our) “failure 

to engage” with Dr. Choi’s analysis. See Dissent Op. at 6. Our col-
league must have overlooked our description of Judge Crotty’s con-
cerns about Dr. Choi’s data—Dr. Choi examined only one of three 
disclosures—and Dr. Choi’s employment of factors in his analysis 
that Dr. Choi himself conceded were not “generally accepted in the 
field.” In re Goldman, No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC), 2018 WL 3854757, at 
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The majority opinion reviews that reasoning and finds it 
to have a firm basis in the facts of the record. Our dissent-
ing friend points to no inaccuracies or misstatements of 
the evidence to support his view that the district court’s 
conclusions were so clearly erroneous that they require 
appellate correction. It might well be that were one of us 
given the same task as that of the district judge we would 
conclude otherwise; but we cannot say there can only be 
one conclusion from the record presented. 

Lastly, our colleague seems exceptionally eager to 
take on “the generic statements on which [the sharehold-
ers’] claims are based.” Dissent Op. at 8. His assertion 
that those statements are too general as a matter of law 
seems to endorse Goldman’s view that price maintenance 
cases are limited to more specific statements related to 
performance or corporate expectations. We disagree and 
have explained why in our opinion.23 

What the dissent really wants to do is to revisit the 
question of whether the statements are too general as a 
matter of law to be deemed material. Judge Sullivan 
would inject materiality into our Rule 23 analysis in the 
name of limiting the types of statements that can be con-
sidered for price maintenance.24 The question of whether 

                                                 
*5–6. Judge Crotty had other concerns with the value of Dr. Choi’s 
analysis as set forth above. See supra at 17–19.   

23 See supra Section I.B.   
24 The fact is that this argument is just a redux of Goldman’s unsuc-

cessful Rule 12(b)(6) argument to dismiss and its motion to reconsider 
that loss in the district court. “[T]he Court cannot say that Goldman’s 
statements that it complies with the letter and spirit of the law and 
that its success depends on such compliance, its ability to address ‘po-
tential’ conflict of interests, and valuing its reputation, would be so 
obviously unimportant to a reasonable investor.” Richman, 868 F. 
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the statements on which plaintiffs rely were not material 
as a matter of law will be addressed by the district court 
at an appropriate time. But for now, the procedural pos-
ture of the case and our understanding of binding prece-
dent from this Court and the Supreme Court preclude 
reaching the matter. If acknowledging that limitation 
while further recognizing that some (but perhaps not 
all)25 will view the merits of the shareholders’ claim 
through our colleague’s lens is “tiptoeing,” see Dissent Op. 
at 8–9, then so be it. Careful footwork is often required in 
intricate judicial tasks. 

CONCLUSION 

We AFFIRM the judgment of the district court and 
REMAND for further proceedings consistent with this 
opinion.  

 

  

                                                 
Supp. 2d at 280; see also In re Goldman, No. 10 Civ. 3461 (PAC) 2014 
WL 2815571 at *2–6.   

25 One wonders if the folks who bought Goldman shares, thinking 
that Goldman assiduously guarded against conflicts of interests in its 
dealings with those it advised on financial matters, would be con-
cerned not only with the fines the SEC and DOJ had in mind once 
specific details of Goldman’s fiduciary failures came to light, but also 
with the financial implications to Goldman’s bottom line once those 
who took Goldman’s advice knew it was tainted and had cost them 
millions or billions of losses in worthless Goldman-endorsed invest-
ments. Goldman’s specific assertions that it was conflict free might be 
seen as connected to a decision to buy, or hold on to, Goldman stock. 
See supra at 40–41.   
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SULLIVAN, Circuit Judge, dissenting. 

It is difficult to criticize the majority’s cogent and 
highly logical opinion, except to suggest that it perhaps 
misses the forest for the trees. In my view, the district 
court misapplied the Basic presumption in its analysis of 
price impact, essentially turning the presumption on its 
head. Because Defendants offered persuasive and uncon-
tradicted evidence that Goldman’s share price was unaf-
fected by earlier disclosures of Defendants’ alleged con-
flicts of interest – thereby severing the link that under-
girds the Basic presumption – I would reverse the lower 
court’s ruling and decertify the class.  

As an initial matter, I agree with the majority’s con-
clusion in Section I that the district court did not misapply 
the inflation-maintenance theory of price impact. What-
ever the merits or flaws of that theory, it is clearly the law 
of this circuit and not for this panel to revisit. See In re 
Vivendi Sec. Litig., 838 F.3d 223, 258 (2d Cir. 2016). Nev-
ertheless, I believe that the majority uncritically accepted 
the district court’s conclusions regarding what rebuttal 
evidence is necessary to overcome the Basic presumption. 
Though the Basic standard is well-established, it bears 
repeating: “[I]f a plaintiff shows that the defendant’s mis-
representation was public and material and that the stock 
traded in a generally efficient market, he is entitled to a 
presumption that the misrepresentation affected the 
stock price;” moreover, “if the plaintiff also shows that he 
purchased the stock at the market price during the rele-
vant period, he is entitled to a further presumption that 
he purchased the stock in reliance on the defendant’s rep-
resentation.” Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc. 
(Halliburton II), 573 U.S. 258, 279 (2014). Once the Basic 
presumption has been invoked, however, a defendant may 
then rebut it “through ‘any showing that severs the link 
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between the alleged misrepresentation and either the 
price received (or paid) by the plaintiff, or his decision to 
trade at a fair market price.’” Waggoner v. Barclays PLC, 
875 F.3d 79, 95 (2d Cir. 2017) (emphasis added) (quoting 
Halliburton II, 573 U.S. at 269).  

In support of its initial opposition to class certification, 
Goldman did not dispute that Plaintiffs were able to in-
voke the Basic presumption. See Arkansas Teachers Ret. 
Sys. v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. (ATRS I), 879 F.3d 474, 
484 (2d Cir. 2018). Instead, Goldman argued that it was 
able to rebut the presumption with evidence demonstrat-
ing the lack of price impact following earlier disclosures 
of the alleged conflicts. Id. The district court found that 
Goldman had not rebutted the presumption; we vacated 
and remanded, directing the district court to “determin[e] 
whether defendants established by a preponderance of 
the evidence that the misrepresentations did not in fact 
affect the market price of Goldman stock.” Id. at 486.  

On remand, the district court held an evidentiary 
hearing at which Goldman offered the testimony of two 
experts to demonstrate that the alleged misstatements 
did not affect the stock price. The first, Dr. Paul Gompers, 
testified that 36 news reports – including stories on the 
front pages of The New York Times and The Wall Street 
Journal -- had in fact already revealed the supposed fal-
sity of the alleged misrepresentations prior to the three 
“corrective disclosure” dates, with no discernible impact 
on the price of Goldman’s shares. The second, Dr. Stephen 
Choi, testified that the stock price declined on the correc-
tive disclosure dates entirely due to the news that the 
SEC and Department of Justice had commenced enforce-
ment actions against the company – not due to the reve-
lation that Goldman had allegedly misrepresented its ap-
proach to conflicts of interest, which, as Dr. Gompers 
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demonstrated, had already been revealed to the market. 
Plaintiffs called one expert, Dr. John Finnerty, to refute 
Defendants’ experts’ testimony. Although Dr. Finnerty 
principally testified that the market for Goldman stock 
was efficient – a point that Defendants did not dispute – 
Dr. Finnerty also conclusorily asserted that the 36 earlier 
news reports did not impact the share price because some 
of the reports included “denials” from Goldman, while 
others were less detailed than the three corrective disclo-
sures alleged in the complaint.  

Based on this testimony and the experts’ reports, the 
district court concluded that Goldman had again failed to 
rebut the Basic presumption and certified the class. In 
particular, the district court relied on Dr. Finnerty’s tes-
timony, such as it was, to announce that “[t]he absence of 
price movement [following the earlier disclosures] . . . . is 
not sufficient to sever the link between the first corrective 
disclosure [alleged in the complaint] and the subsequent 
stock price drop.” In re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. 
Litig., No. 10-cv-3461 (PAC), 2018 WL 3854757, at *4 
(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 14, 2018). I disagree.  

First, the district court, and Dr. Finnerty, relied pri-
marily on the “efficient market” theory, which alone is in-
sufficient to refute persuasive rebuttal evidence regard-
ing the lack of price impact. As set forth in his January 30, 
2015 report, Dr. Finnerty was retained to determine 
whether Goldman’s stock traded in an efficient market – 
a necessary precursor to Plaintiff’s invocation of the Basic 
presumption. But Defendants never disputed the effi-
ciency of the market; they presumed as much. Rather, 
they presented evidence of 36 earlier news reports that 
revealed the falsity of the misstatements alleged in the 
complaint and yet never moved the stock price. They ar-
gued, without contradiction, that the lack of movement in 
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the share price – in an efficient market – proved that the 
later drop was caused by something other than the disclo-
sure of the alleged conflicts of interest. Neither Dr. Fin-
nerty nor the district court could refute that conclusion or 
explain the lack of price movement from the earlier dis-
closures.1

Second, Dr. Finnerty made no serious attempt to re-
fute Dr. Choi’s analysis, let alone his conclusion that the 
stock drop was caused by the announcement of the SEC 
and DOJ enforcement actions rather than the underlying 
factual allegations. Instead of differentiating between the 
price impact of the conflict disclosures and the price im-
pact of the enforcement actions, Dr. Finnerty did his best 
to conflate them, arguing that the two were inextricably 
intertwined. In the words of Dr. Finnerty:  

My analysis demonstrates that the description of 
Goldman’s conduct embodied in those three regula-
tory actions is inextricably tied to the actions them-
selves. To put it at a very simple level, if you were tell-
ing my students what the take-away is, is you can't 
have a fraud charge without the fraud – without the 
behavior – and particularly, the SEC enforcement ac-
tion does lay out the behavior that is the basis for the 
fraud charge. 

Joint App’x at 8196. But this failure to engage with 
Dr. Choi undermined the very purpose of the evidentiary 

                                                 
1 Dr. Finnerty’s attempt to differentiate the 36 news reports from 

the three corrective disclosures by saying that the news reports were 
accompanied by “denials” from Goldman was equally conclusory and 
unpersuasive, particularly since many of the news reports did not in-
clude denials at all.  See Joint App’x at 5284-5437; see also id. at 3146-
96 (Plaintiffs’ Summary of News Reports); id. at 2951-57 (Defendants’ 
Summary of News Reports). 
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hearing, which was designed to “determin[e] whether de-
fendants established by a preponderance of the evidence 
that the misrepresentations did not in fact affect the mar-
ket price of Goldman stock.” ATRS I, 879 F.3d at 486. Alt-
hough the district court was at times highly critical of 
Dr. Choi’s studies, it accepted Dr. Finnerty’s opinions at 
face value when it concluded that “[i]t is only natural that 
economically significant negative news, such as [the con-
flicts reiterated in the enforcement actions], would at least 
contribute to the stock price declines.” In re Goldman, 
2018 WL 3854757, at *4 (internal quotation marks omit-
ted). But in addition to being wholly conclusory, that ob-
servation was largely beside the point, since it offered no 
clear explanation for why the market only moved after the 
37th recital of fraud allegations.  

Of course, the majority correctly notes, as we held in 
Waggoner v. Barclays, that Plaintiffs were not required 
to prove that news of enforcement actions had no effect on 
price. 875 F.3d at 104–05. In Waggoner, the plaintiffs – 
who were also proceeding under a price-maintenance the-
ory – invoked the Basic presumption, prompting the de-
fendants to argue that the stock price decline “was due to 
potential regulatory action and fines, not the revelation of 
any allegedly concealed truth.” Id. at 104 (internal quota-
tion marks omitted). The district court disagreed, and we 
affirmed, finding that the “record support[ed] the district 
court’s conclusion that such a concern was merely a con-
tributing factor to the decline.” Id. In particular, we noted 
that the defendants’ expert conceded that the “corrective 
disclosure . . . . may have had a bigger impact on . . . . 
price . . . . due to the announcement of the New York At-
torney General’s lawsuit and that some of the price reac-
tion was independent of the specific allegations.” Id. (al-
terations and internal quotation marks omitted).  
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But the key difference between this case and Wag-
goner is that Defendants here have demonstrated that the 
prior disclosures – as set forth in 36 separate news reports 
over as many months – had no impact on Goldman’s stock 
price. Indeed, as the district court expressly acknowl-
edged, “Dr. Finnerty concede[d] that Goldman's stock 
price did not move on any of the 36 dates on which the 
falsity of the alleged misstatements was revealed to the 
public.” In re Goldman, 2018 WL 3854757, at *4 (empha-
sis added). Thus, unlike the defendants in Waggoner, 
Goldman introduced hard evidence that “sever[ed] the 
link between the alleged misrepresentation and . . . . the 
price . . . . paid by the plaintiff.” Waggoner, 875 F.3d at 95 
(quoting Halliburton II, 573 U.S. at 269). If such evidence 
can be neutralized by the mere assertion that the SEC’s 
repackaging of those disclosures must have “at least con-
tribute[d] to the stock price declines,” In re Goldman, 
2018 WL 3854757, at *4, then the Basic presumption is 
truly irrebuttable and class certification is all but a cer-
tainty in every case.  

Finally, I think it’s fair for this court to consider the 
nature of the alleged misstatements in assessing whether 
and why “the misrepresentations did not in fact affect the 
market price of Goldman stock.” ATRS I, 879 F.3d at 486. 
Although the majority concedes that “[p]rice impact . . . . 
resembles materiality” and may be “disprove[n] . . . . at 
class certification,” it then strains to avoid looking at the 
statements themselves for fear that such a review 
amounts to “smuggling materiality into Rule 23.” Maj. Op. 
at 29, 30. I disagree.  

Candidly, I don’t see how a reviewing court can ignore 
the alleged misrepresentations when assessing price im-
pact. Here, the obvious explanation for why the share 
price didn’t move after 36 separate news stories on the 
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subject of Goldman’s conflicts is that no reasonable inves-
tor would have attached any significance to the generic 
statements on which Plaintiffs’ claims are based. The ma-
jority tiptoes around this fact, noting on the one hand that 
“courts regularly dismiss securities complaints [at the 
motion to dismiss stage] because the challenged state-
ments were too general to have induced reliance,” while 
tepidly insisting that “[w]e express no opinion on whether 
the misstatements at issue here are material,” since 
“[r]ight or wrong, we lack the authority to review [the dis-
trict court’s materiality findings] at this time.” Id. at 34 & 
n.16. I don’t believe that such rigid compartmentalization 
is possible, much less required by Amgen, Halliburton II, 
or ATRS I. Once a defendant has challenged the Basic 
presumption and put forth evidence demonstrating that 
the misrepresentation did not affect share price, a review-
ing court is free to consider the alleged misrepresenta-
tions in order to assess their impact on price. The mere 
fact that such an inquiry “resembles” an assessment of 
materiality does not make it improper. 

Here, the generic quality of Goldman’s alleged mis-
statements, coupled with the undisputed fact that “Gold-
man's stock price did not move on any of the 36 dates on 
which the falsity of the alleged misstatements was re-
vealed to the public,” In re Goldman, 2018 WL 3854757, 
at *4, clearly compels the conclusion that the stock drop 
following the corrective disclosures was attributable to 
something other than the misstatements alleged in the 
complaint. The most obvious explanation, consistent with 
Dr. Choi’s report, is that the drop was caused by news that 
the SEC and DOJ were pursuing enforcement actions 
against Goldman. But even without Dr. Choi’s testimony, 
the fact remains that Plaintiffs offered no hard evidence, 
expert or otherwise, to refute Goldman’s proof severing 
the link between the alleged misrepresentation and the 
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price paid by Plaintiffs for Goldman shares. It therefore 
seems clear that Defendants “established by a preponder-
ance of the evidence that the misrepresentations did not 
in fact affect the market price of Goldman stock.” ATRS 
I, 879 F.3d at 486.  

Accordingly, I would reverse the finding of the district 
court with respect to the Basic presumption and decertify 
the class.  
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OPINION & ORDER 

CROTTY, United States District Judge. 

Lead Plaintiffs allege that Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. 
(“Goldman”) and some of its senior executives (collec-
tively, “Defendants”) violated Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-
5; and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act by making mis-
statements about Goldman’s conflicts of interest policies 
and business practices, revealed to be false by three re-
ports of government investigations into Goldman’s con-
flicted role in certain collateralized debt obligation 
(“CDO”) transactions. 

Previously, the Court (1) granted Defendants’ motion 
to dismiss claims regarding their failure to disclose Gold-
man’s receipt of Wells notices from the Securities and Ex-
change Commission (“SEC”), but (2) denied the motion 
with respect to claims that Goldman had made misstate-
ments about its conflicts of interest. See Richman v. Gold-
man Sachs Grp., Inc., 868 F. Supp. 2d 261 (S.D.N.Y. 
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2012). The Court also denied the Defendants’ motion for 
partial reconsideration of the motion to dismiss, see In re 
Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 2014 WL 2815571 
(S.D.N.Y. Jun. 23, 2014), and to certify for interlocutory 
appeal the Court’s denial of reconsideration, see In re 
Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 2014 WL 5002090 
(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 7, 2014). Subsequently, Plaintiffs moved 
for class certification, and on September 24, 2015, the 
Court certified the following class: 

All persons or entities who, between February 5, 2007, 
and June 10, 2010, purchased or otherwise acquired 
the common stock of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. 
(‘Goldman’ or the ‘Company’), and were damaged 
thereby. 

See In re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 2015 WL 
5613150, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. 2015). 

Defendants took an interlocutory appeal. The Second 
Circuit agreed with the Court that Plaintiffs had satisfied 
the four requirements of Rule 23(a), and that Plaintiffs 
had “established the preliminary elements to invoke the 
Basic presumption of reliance,” Arkansas Teachers Ret. 
Sys. v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. (“Arkansas Teachers”), 
879 F.3d 474, 482, 484 (2d Cir. 2018). The Second Circuit, 
however, vacated the class certification and remanded the 
case for further proceedings. The Second Circuit directed 
the Court to reconsider whether Defendants have rebut-
ted the Basic presumption by a preponderance of the ev-
idence and “encourage[d] the court to hold any eviden-
tiary hearing or oral argument it deems appropriate un-
der the circumstances.” Id. at 485–86.1 

                                                 
1 The Court assumes familiarity with the prior decisions on this 

matter. Richman, 868 F. Supp. 2d at 261; In re Goldman Sachs Grp., 
Inc. Sec. Litig., 2014 WL 2815571; In re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. 
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On remand, both parties submitted supplemental 
briefs, and the Court held an evidentiary hearing and 
heard oral argument on July 24 and 25, 2018, respectively. 
At the evidentiary hearing, Defendants called two ex-
perts—Dr. Gompers and Dr. Choi—who testified that the 
alleged misstatements had no price impact and that the 
price declines following the alleged corrective disclosures 
were due entirely to the news of enforcement actions. 
Plaintiffs called one expert—Dr. Finnerty—who disputed 
the methods and conclusions of Defendants’ experts. 

Upon due consideration of arguments and evidence 
before the Court, the Court determines that Defendants 
have not rebutted the Basic presumption by a preponder-
ance of the evidence. Accordingly, the motion for class 
certification is GRANTED. 

APPLICABLE LAW 

Plaintiffs bringing a securities fraud claim under Sec-
tion 10(b) of the Exchange Act must demonstrate that de-
fendants made a material misrepresentation and that the 
plaintiffs relied on it. In re Insys Therapeutics, Inc. Sec. 
Litig., 2018 WL 2943746, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). Plaintiffs 
seeking class certification under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) 
must demonstrate: (i) that questions of law or fact com-
mon to class members predominate over any questions af-
fecting only individual members, and (ii) that a class ac-
tion is superior to other available methods. 

Plaintiffs bringing a securities fraud claim as a class 
are entitled to a presumption (the “Basic presumption”) 
that all plaintiffs relied on the defendants’ misrepresenta-
tion—establishing commonality of the reliance element—

                                                 
Sec. Litig., 2014 WL 5002090; In re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. 
Litig., 2015 WL 5613150; and Arkansas Teachers, 879 F.3d at 474. 
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“so long as [the misrepresentation] was reflected in the 
market price [of securities] at the time of [the] transac-
tion.” Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 247 (1988); Erica 
P. John Fund, Inc. v. Halliburton Co., 563 U.S. 804, 813 
(2011) (“Halliburton I”). The Basic presumption, how-
ever, can be rebutted at the class certification stage with 
evidence that the defendants’ misrepresentation had no 
price impact. Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc. 
(“Halliburton II”), 134 S. Ct. 2398, 2414 (2014). Defend-
ants “bear the burden of persuasion to rebut the Basic 
presumption by a preponderance of the evidence.” Arkan-
sas Teachers, 879 F.3d at 478 (citing Waggoner v. Bar-
clays PLC, 875 F.3d 79 (2d Cir. 2017)). Defendants “must 
demonstrate that the misrepresentation did not in fact af-
fect the stock’s price.” Id. at 484. 

DISCUSSION 

There is no dispute “that [P]laintiffs [have] estab-
lished the preliminary elements to invoke the Basic pre-
sumption of reliance.” Arkansas Teachers, 879 F,3d at 
484. The parties “also agree that [Defendants] may sub-
mit rebuttal evidence of a lack of price impact at the class 
certification stage,” id.; but Defendants “bear the burden 
of persuasion to rebut the Basic presumption by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence,” id. at 478. The question for 
the Court then is rather simple and straight forward: have 
Defendants demonstrated, by a preponderance of the ev-
idence, that the alleged misstatements had no price im-
pact? For the reasons set forth below, the Court concludes 
that Defendants have not rebutted the Basic presumption 
by a preponderance of the evidence. 
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I.   EVIDENCE OF PRICE IMPACT 

Plaintiffs claim that the alleged misstatements had im-
pact on Goldman’s stock price. Although the misstate-
ments themselves did not inflate the stock price, they al-
legedly served to maintain an already inflated stock price. 
The inflation was demonstrated on three dates, when the 
falsity of the misstatements was revealed: (i) April 16, 
2010, when the SEC filed a lawsuit against Goldman for 
sponsoring the ABACUS CDO without disclosing to po-
tential CDO investors that a hedge fund, Paulson & Co. 
Inc., “played an active and determinative role in the asset 
selection process,” Compl. ¶¶ 63–65, 307; (ii) April 30, 
2010, when the press reported that the Department of 
Justice (“DOJ”) was investigating Goldman’s mortgage-
related matters, id. ¶¶ 318, 319, 334; and (iii) June 10, 
2010, when the press reported that the SEC was investi-
gating Goldman’s alleged conflicts in the Hudson CDO, id. 
¶¶ 322, 335.2 Dr. Finnerty, Plaintiffs’ expert, stated that 
the price declines following these corrective disclosures 
were caused by the news of Goldman’s conflicts. ECF 193-
11 (“1/30/2015 Finnerty Decl.”) ¶¶ 52–63, 68–80. 

II. DEFENDANTS’ REBUTTAL EVIDENCE 

Defendants label the Plaintiffs’ price impact theory 
“preposterous.” Tr.3 at 232:9. According to Defendants, 
(1) the lack of stock price movement on 36 dates when 
published reports commented on Goldman’s conflicts—all 
before the three corrective disclosures—demonstrates 

                                                 
2 The alleged misstatements and the corresponding corrective dis-

closures are detailed in the Court’s September 24, 2015 order. See In 
re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 2015 WL 5613150, at *1–*2 

3 Tr. refers to the transcript of the evidentiary hearing and oral 
argument held on July 25 and 26, 2018. 
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that the alleged misstatements did not cause any price in-
flation; and (2) the price declines following three alleged 
corrective disclosures were due entirely to the news of en-
forcement actions, not the reports of Goldman’s conflicts. 

Defendants’ arguments rely heavily on two experts 
who testified at the July 24, 2018 evidentiary hearing: 
Drs. Paul Gompers and Stephen Choi. Dr. Gompers re-
ported that Goldman’s stock price did not move in re-
sponse to articles published on 36 dates regarding Gold-
man’s conflicts, including the ABACUS, Hudson and 
other CDO deals, all of which occurred before the three 
corrective disclosure dates. See ECF 193-4 (“4/6/2015 
Gompers Decl.”) ¶¶ 48–60, Exs. 5 & 6; ECF 193-6 
(“7/2/2015 Gompers Decl.”) ¶¶ 48–76, Exs. 2 & 3. This lack 
of price movement supposedly proves that the misstate-
ments had no price impact. 4/6/2015 Gompers Decl. ¶¶ 48–
60. It also allegedly proves that the revelation of client 
conflicts did not contribute to the stock price declines that 
followed the three corrective disclosures. Id. ¶¶ 61–95; 
ECF 193-5 (“6/23/2015 Gompers Decl.”) ¶¶ 13–18; 
7/2/2015 Gompers Decl. ¶¶ 80–124. 

Dr. Choi builds off of Dr. Gompers’ opinion and pro-
vides an alternative explanation for the stock price de-
clines that followed the three corrective disclosures. Since 
the conflicts were reported on 36 separate occasions with 
no price movement, see 4/6/2015 Gompers Decl. ¶¶ 48–60, 
the three price drops must have been due exclusively to 
the news of enforcement activities. ECF 193-8 (“7/2/2015 
Choi Decl.”) ¶¶ 24–56, 66–81. The basis for Dr. Choi’s 
opinion is an event study4 he conducted concerning the 
                                                 

4 An event study is a standard statistical technique that is used to 
test whether a security’s price reaction to a news announcement (or 
some other event) is statistically significant. See 1/30/2015 Finnerty 
Decl. ¶ 32. 
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first corrective disclosure on April 16, 2010: the ABACUS 
enforcement action. The ABACUS enforcement action 
was purportedly unusual because it: (1) was not accompa-
nied by concurrent resolution (usually SEC complaints 
are settled at the time of announcement of the enforce-
ment action); (2) included scienter-based charges; and (3) 
charged not only Goldman itself, but also an individual 
(Mr. Tourre). See id. ¶ 30. Dr. Choi used these character-
istics (which he denominated as the “severity factors”) to 
identify four other enforcement events (from a group of 
117) that are similar to the ABACUS enforcement action, 
and concluded that the average price decline of -8.07% fol-
lowing these four enforcement events5 was driven entirely 
by the “severity factors” specifically tied to the news of 
enforcement events. Id. ¶¶ 31–38. Further, because the 
average price decline of -8.07% is not statistically differ-
ent from the price decline of -9.27% that Goldman experi-
enced following the ABACUS enforcement action, 
Dr. Choi concluded that the entirety of the -9.27% price 
drop was due to the news of the enforcement event itself, 
rather than the revelation of Goldman’s client conflicts. 
Id. ¶¶ 24–42. 

III. INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF LACK OF      
PRICE IMPACT 

Under Barclays and Arkansas Teachers, the Basic 
presumption can be rebutted by Defendants’ demonstra-
tion, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the alleged 

                                                 
5 The price declines associated with the four enforcement events 

had large variance: -3.34%, -3.73%, -8.13%, and -17.09%. The average 
of -8.07% could only be achieved by including an outlier enforcement 
event that had a price drop of -17.09%. 
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misstatements did not contribute to any of the price de-
clines that followed the three corrective disclosures, that 
is, the statements had no price impact. 

Upon due consideration of the parties’ briefs, expert 
reports, their testimony, and oral argument, the Court 
concludes that Defendants have failed to establish, by a 
preponderance of the evidence, that the alleged misstate-
ments had no price impact. Defendants have failed to tip 
the scale in their favor on this issue. 

A. Link Between News of Goldman’s Conflicts and 
Stock Price Declines 

The Court accepts Dr. Finnerty’s opinion that the 
news of Goldman’s conflicts on the three corrective disclo-
sure dates negatively impacted Goldman’s stock price. See 
1/15/2015 Finnerty Decl. ¶¶ 62, 63, 74, 75, 79, 80. It is only 
natural that “economically significant negative news,” 
such as these, would at least contribute to the stock price 
declines. Id. ¶ 62. Defendants attempt to undermine 
Dr. Finnerty’s opinion, claiming in part that the underly-
ing damages model is “completely made up.” Tr. 233:20. 
That overstates the matter. Dr. Finnerty’s model, at the 
very least, establishes a link between the news of Gold-
man’s conflicts and the subsequent stock price declines. 
That is sufficient. 

B. Lack of Price Movement Following 36 Reports 
of Conflicts 

Defendants’ attempts to demonstrate the misstate-
ments’ complete lack of price impact are not persuasive. 
Dr. Gompers claims, and Dr. Finnerty concedes, that 
Goldman’s stock price did not move on any of the 36 dates 
on which the falsity of the alleged misstatements was re-
vealed to the public. 4/6/2015 Gompers Decl. ¶¶ 48–60; 
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8/7/2015 Finnerty Decl. ¶ 19; Tr. at 209:22–210:6. Accord-
ing to Defendants, this lack of price movement demon-
strates that: (1) the alleged misstatements did not support 
any price inflation; and (2) the price declines following the 
three corrective disclosures could not have been caused 
by the news of Goldman’s conflicts. 

The absence of price movement, however, in and of it-
self, is not sufficient to sever the link between the first 
corrective disclosure and the subsequent stock price drop. 
The first corrective disclosure included new material in-
formation that had not been described in any of the 36 
more generic reports on conflicts.6 The first corrective 
disclosure (i.e., the SEC’s ABACUS complaint) detailed 
the nature and extent of Goldman’s client conflicts for the 
first time, Although there had been reports and commen-
taries suggestive of Goldman’s conflicts in the ABACUS 
deal, the ABACUS complaint was the first to detail it. 
Compare S.E.C. v. Goldman Sachs & Co., Case No. 10 
Civ. 3229, ECF 1 (“ABACUS Compl.”) ¶¶ 15–51 with 
ECF 193-34; 193-36. The details, such as the manner in 

                                                 
6 The Court notes that the tenor and quality of 36 reports vary sig-

nificantly. Some of the reports suggest possible or theoretical con-
flicts. See, e.g., ECF 193-21 (“But there is no evidence that Goldman 
did wrong by . . . conversing with Mr. Paulson about financial condi-
tions, if it actually did the latter.”). But others appear to be a cri de 
coeur from sworn enemies. See, e.g., ECF 193-30 (“The world’s most 
powerful investment bank is a great vampire squid wrapped around 
the face of humanity, relentlessly jamming its blood funnel into any-
thing that smells like money.”). Still others were not damaging or rev-
elatory, but rather commendatory: they praised Goldman for manag-
ing its conflicts and still outperforming competitors. See, e.g., ECF 
193-20 (an article entitled “Goldman’s risk control offers right exam-
ple of governance”); ECF 193-26 (“Goldman’s happier outcome was 
not only a matter of being on the right side of the trade. It is generally 
conceded that the firm had a better handle on its risk than most other 
investment banks.”). 
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which Goldman engaged ACA to hide Paulson’s role in as-
set selection, disclosed by a federal government agency, 
obviously rendered the ABACUS complaint more reliable 
and credible than any of the 36 media reports, especially 
in the presence of the denials and rebuttals that accompa-
nied some of the reports. 5/15/2015 Finnerty Decl. ¶¶ 183–
86. 

Moreover, the ABACUS complaint was the first to ex-
pose hard evidence of Goldman’s client conflicts. It in-
cluded direct quotes from damning emails between 
Mr. Tourre (a former Goldman employee) and others, and 
from Goldman’s internal memoranda, disclosing hard evi-
dence that Goldman had indeed engaged in conflicts to its 
own advantage. See ABACUS Compl. ¶¶ 17, 18, 21, 23, 24, 
28–34, 43. This was the first time that any hard evidence 
of Goldman’s conflicts was reported. See, e.g., Tr. at 82:6–
7 (Dr. Gompers testifying: “I am unaware of any of those 
e-mails being public prior to the publication or the filing 
of the SEC complaint.”). Neither Dr. Gompers nor Dr. 
Choi credibly explains how such hard evidence did not 
contribute to the price decline following the first correc-
tive disclosure.7 

                                                 
7 Dr. Gompers testified that “the internal e-mails [disclosed in the 

ABACUS complaint] didn’t have a price impact” because the Senate’s 
disclosure of additional internal e-mails on April 26, 2010 had no price 
impact. See Tr. at 92:17–93:4. The Court rejects this testimony. The 
Senate’s disclosure of e-mails occurred on April 26, 2010, after the fil-
ing of the ABACUS complaint on April 16, 2010 and presumably after 
the dissipation of price inflation that had been sustained by the e-mail 
evidence in the ABACUS complaint. The lack of price movement sub-
sequent to the Senate’s e-mail disclosures has no bearing on whether 
the e-mails in the ABACUS complaint sustained inflation. 
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 C. Dr. Choi’s Event Study 

Defendants put a significant emphasis on Dr. Choi’s 
opinion that the stock price declines following the three 
corrective disclosures were due entirely to the news of en-
forcement actions. 

As a threshold matter, Dr. Choi’s conclusion is not 
supported by his event study. Yes, Dr. Choi performed an 
event study concerning the stock price decline following 
the first corrective disclosure (the “first price decline”). 
But he has performed no event study concerning stock 
price declines following the second and third corrective 
disclosures (the “second price decline” and the “third 
price decline”, respectively).8 There is no good reason to 
extend Dr. Choi’s findings on the first price decline to 
those second and third price declines; Dr. Choi’s opinion 
should be limited to the first price decline that he actually 
analyzed. 

Dr. Choi’s opinion, even with respect to the first price 
decline, may not be reliable. It is wholly predicated on the 
premise that the first price decline is consistent with price 
declines that four other companies previously experi-
enced upon the news of similar enforcement events. This 
observation of consistency is unreliable for four reasons. 

First, Dr. Choi selected four enforcement events 
(from the pool of 117) using three arbitrary characteris-
tics which he denominated as “severity factors.” He con-
cedes that he was the first person to use these “severity 
factors” together, and that these “severity factors” are 
not generally accepted in the field. See Tr. at 142:6-143:11. 

                                                 
8 Dr. Choi claimed that it was impossible to design a reliable event 

study for the second and third price declines. Tr. at 116:19–117:9; 
119:17–120:7. His claim was not supported by any authority or litera-
ture. 
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Accordingly, his use of the “severity factors” casts doubt 
on his opinion, especially because the selected enforce-
ment events (1) did not involve allegations concerning 
mismanagement of conflicts of interest, as here, and 
(2) did not involve companies that were similar to Gold-
man in terms of business operations and size. See ECF 
193-14 (“8/7/2015 Finnerty Decl.”) ¶¶ 95–97. 

Second, Dr. Choi’s event study does not account for 
the allegations of misconduct underlying the four selected 
enforcement events. Tr. at 137:10-138:4. Previously, he 
has stated that the underlying allegations would impact 
the stock price. See Choi, S., A. Wiechman, and A. 
Pritchard, Scandal Enforcement at the SEC: The Arc of 
the Option Backdating Investigations, 15 Am. L. & Econ. 
Rev., pp. 542–77 (2013) (“the market response to an an-
nouncement of an option backdating issue is less than the 
market response to an accounting issue”).9 

Third, Dr. Choi quantified the consistency of price de-
clines by comparing the first price decline with the aver-
age price decline of four selected enforcement events. But 
it is well understood that an average is an unreliable met-
ric when the average is computed based on a small num-
ber of samples and especially where the variance among 
the underlying samples is large, as here. See 8/7/2015 Fin-
nerty Decl. ¶¶ 99–104. 

Fourth, Dr. Choi compared the first price decline with 
the average price decline using a two-sample t-test. But 
“[a] t-test is not appropriate for small samples drawn from 
a population that is not normal.” Butt v. United Bhd. of 
Carpenters & Joiners of Arn., 2016 WL 3365772, at *1 
(E.D. Pa. June 16, 2016) (quoting Reference Manual on 

                                                 
9 Available at https://ideas.repec.org/a/oup/amlawe/v15y2013i2p 

542-577.html (last visited Aug. 14, 2018).  
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Scientific Evidence, Third Edition from the Federal Judi-
cial Center). Dr. Choi fails to demonstrate that the t-test 
based on two samples is reliable, or that the samples were 
drawn from a population that follows a normal distribu-
tion. See Tr. at 176:18–177:3. 

As discussed above, the Second Circuit directed the 
Court to determine whether Defendants have demon-
strated, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the al-
leged misstatements had no price impact. In view of 
Dr. Finnerty’s opinion demonstrating the price impact of 
alleged misstatements, and the deficiencies inherent in 
the opinions of Drs. Gompers and Choi, the Court con-
cludes that Defendants have failed to rebut the Basic pre-
sumption by a preponderance of the evidence. There is in-
sufficient evidence to conclude otherwise. Accordingly, 
the motion for class certification is granted. 

At various points, Defendants hint at previously re-
jected arguments: that the alleged misstatements are not 
actionable and that the loss causation cannot be demon-
strated here. See ECF 192 at 5 n.2; Tr. at 232:2–11; 
233:21–234:3; 251:11–252:11; 263:2–266:4. The Court re-
jects them again. See Richman, 868 F. Supp. 2d at 277–
83; In re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 2014 WL 
2815571, *5–*6.  

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Court concludes 
that Defendants have failed to meet their burden of proof: 
the Basic presumption is not rebutted and the motion for 
class certification is granted. The Clerk of Court is di-
rected to terminate the pending motion at ECF 135. 

SO ORDERED.  
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OPINION 

WESLEY, Circuit Judge.  

Investors in a securities fraud class action tradition-
ally have a problem proving that “questions of law or fact 
common to class members predominate over . . . questions 
affecting only individual members” under Federal Rule of 
Civil Procedure 23(b)(3). The presumption established in 
Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 108 S. Ct. 978, 99 
L.Ed.2d 194 (1988), addressed that problem by allowing 
courts to presume that the price of stock traded in an ef-
ficient market reflects all public, material information—
including misrepresentations—and that investors rely on 
the integrity of the market price when they choose to buy 
or sell stock. Basic also established, however, that defend-
ants may rebut the presumption, and therefore defeat 
class certification, by showing the misrepresentations did 
not actually affect the price of the stock. The question pre-
sented in this case is what defendants must do to meet 
that burden. 

In light of this Court’s recent pronouncement that de-
fendants bear the burden of persuasion to rebut the Basic 
presumption by a preponderance of the evidence, see 
Waggoner v. Barclays PLC, 875 F.3d 79 (2d Cir. 2017), 
and for the additional reasons stated herein, we VACATE 
the September 24, 2015 Order of the United States Dis-
trict Court for the Southern District of New York (Crotty, 
J.) granting plaintiff’s motion for class certification and 
REMAND for further proceedings consistent with this 
opinion. 

BACKGROUND 

Plaintiffs-appellees acquired shares of common stock 
in The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (“Goldman”) between 
February 5, 2007 and June 10, 2010. In July 2011, they 
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commenced a securities fraud action in the District Court 
against Goldman and several of its directors (collectively, 
“defendants”), for violating section 10(b) of the Securities 
Exchange Act and Rule 10b–5 promulgated thereunder. 
See 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b–5. 

I. PLAINTIFF’S ALLEGATIONS OF FRAUD 

In their consolidated class action complaint, plaintiffs 
alleged that defendants made material misstatements 
about Goldman’s efforts to avoid conflicts of interest, 
causing the value of their stock to decline.1 Specifically, 
they alleged that defendants made the following state-
ments in Goldman’s Form 10–K filings and Annual Re-
port, as well as in shareholder conference calls: 

Our reputation is one of our most important assets. As 
we have expanded the scope of our business and our 
client base, we increasingly have to address potential 
conflicts of interest, including situations where our 
services to a particular client or our own proprietary 
investments or other interests conflict, or are per-
ceived to conflict, with the interest of another cli-
ent. . . . 

We have extensive procedures and controls that are 
designed to identify and address conflicts of inter-
est. . . . 

                                                 
1 Plaintiffs also alleged defendants failed to disclose Goldman’s re-

ceipt of “Wells Notices,” which are sent by the SEC in order to inform 
a firm that the SEC intends to bring an enforcement action against 
it. The District Court dismissed that cause of action and it is not at 
issue in this appeal. See Richman v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 868 
F.Supp.2d 261, 269, 275 (S.D.N.Y. 2012). 
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Our clients’ interests always come first. Our experi-
ence shows that if we serve our clients well, our own 
success will follow. . . . 

We are dedicated to complying fully with the letter 
and spirit of the laws, rules and ethical principles that 
govern us. Our continued success depends upon un-
swerving adherence to this standard. . . . 

Most importantly, and the basic reason for our suc-
cess, is our extraordinary focus on our clients. . . . 

Integrity and honesty are at the heart of our busi-
ness. . . . 

Joint App’x 81–87. 

Plaintiffs claimed that these statements about Gold-
man’s efforts to avoid conflicts of interest were false and 
misleading because Goldman acted in direct conflict with 
the interests of its clients in at least four collateralized 
debt obligation (“CDO”) transactions involving subprime 
mortgages between 2006 and 2007, most notably the Aba-
cus 2007 AC–1 (“Abacus”) transaction involving hedge-
fund client Paulson & Co. Plaintiffs alleged that Goldman 
permitted Paulson, its client, to play an active role in the 
asset selection process for Abacus, without revealing to 
institutional investors that Paulson held the sole short po-
sition and thus chose particularly risky mortgages that it 
hoped “would perform poorly or fail.” Plaintiffs claimed 
that Goldman’s role in Abacus, which ultimately resulted 
in a $550 million settlement with the SEC, “allow[ed] a fa-
vored client to benefit at the expense of Goldman’s other 
clients,” creating a conflict of interest at odds with the 
company’s public statements. 

The complaint asserted that Goldman created similar 
conflicts of interest in three other CDO transactions in-
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volving subprime mortgages: Hudson Mezzanine Fund-
ing 2006–1 (“Hudson”), Anderson Mezzanine Funding 
2007–1 (“Anderson”), and Timberwolf I (“Timberwolf”). 
Goldman allegedly contributed equity to the portfolios in 
those transactions and told investors it was “aligned” with 
them, while simultaneously holding substantial short po-
sitions opposite their investments. 

Although plaintiffs invested in Goldman—but not any 
of the CDOs described above—they claimed Goldman’s 
conflicted roles in the transactions revealed that the com-
pany did not have “extensive procedures and controls . . . 
designed to identify and address conflicts of interest” and 
that it was not “dedicated to complying fully with the let-
ter and spirit of the laws,” as its public statements had 
suggested. 

Plaintiffs alleged that news of government enforce-
ment actions against Goldman on three occasions in mid-
2010 revealed the falsity of defendants’ statements and 
caused the company’s share prices to decline. On April 16, 
2010, the SEC filed a securities fraud action against Gold-
man and one of its employees regarding the Abacus trans-
action, for failing to disclose to potential investors that 
Paulson played a significant role in the asset selection pro-
cess. Following the announcement, the company’s stock 
price declined 13% from $184.27 to $160.70 per share on 
April 16, 2010. On April 30, 2010, the company’s share 
price dropped another 9% from $160.24 to $145.20 after 
the Wall Street Journal reported that Goldman was un-
der investigation by the Department of Justice for its pur-
ported role in the CDOs. And on June 10, 2010, the press 
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reported that the SEC was investigating Goldman’s con-
duct in the Hudson CDO, which resulted in a further 2% 
decline in the price of Goldman stock.2 

According to plaintiffs, these three “corrective disclo-
sures”3 revealed to the market the falsity of defendants’ 
statements regarding Goldman’s efforts to avoid conflicts 
of interest. Plaintiffs claimed that, on April 16, April 30, 
and June 10, 2010, the market learned for the first time 
that Goldman had created “clear conflicts of interest with 
its own clients” by “intentionally packag[ing] and s[elling] 
. . . securities that were designed to fail, while at the same 
time reaping billions for itself or its favored clients by tak-
ing massive short positions” in the same transactions. 
Plaintiffs alleged that defendants made the misstate-
ments with the intent to defraud Goldman’s shareholders, 
and that they lost, in total, over $13 billion as a result of 
defendants’ fraud. 

Defendants initially moved to dismiss the complaint 
pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 9(b) and 
12(b)(6), arguing the alleged misstatements were too gen-
eral and vague to be actionable as a matter of law. The 
District Court denied defendants’ motion, holding that 

                                                 
2 The Complaint identified a fourth corrective disclosure on April 

26, 2010, but plaintiffs have abandoned any reliance on that disclo-
sure, which did not contain news of government enforcement activi-
ties and caused no statistically significant movement in the price of 
Goldman’s stock. 

3 A “corrective disclosure” is an announcement or series of an-
nouncements that reveals to the market the falsity of a prior state-
ment. See Lentell v. Merrill Lynch & Co., 396 F.3d 161, 175 n.4 (2d 
Cir. 2005) 
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plaintiffs sufficiently pleaded all six elements of a securi-
ties fraud action.4 See Richman, 868 F.Supp.2d at 271–72, 
279. The District Court subsequently denied defendants’ 
motions for reconsideration and interlocutory appeal. In 
re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 10 Civ. 3461, 
2014 WL 2815571, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. June 23, 2014); In re 
Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 10 Civ. 3461, 
2014 WL 5002090, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 7, 2014). 

II. PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR CLASS CERTIFI-
CATION  

Plaintiffs then moved to certify a class consisting of 
“[a]ll persons or entities who, between February 5, 2007 
and June 10, 2010, purchased or otherwise acquired the 
common stock of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. . . . and 
were damaged thereby.” Plaintiffs argued (and defend-
ants did not dispute) that they satisfied the requirements 
for class certification under Federal Rule of Civil Proce-
dure 23(a): The class was sufficiently numerous, there 
were common issues of law or fact, the claims of the rep-
resentative parties were typical of the claims of the class, 
and the representative parties would fairly and ade-
quately protect the interests of the class. 

Plaintiffs also argued they satisfied Rule 23(b)(3) be-
cause common issues of law or fact predominated over is-
sues affecting only individual members and a class action 
was the superior method of adjudicating the controversy. 
See FED. R. CIV. P. 23(b)(3). To establish the predomi-

                                                 
4 Those elements are “(1) a material misrepresentation or omission 

by the defendant; (2) scienter; (3) a connection between the misrep-
resentation or omission and the purchase or sale of a security; (4) re-
liance upon the misrepresentation or omission; (5) economic loss; and 
(6) loss causation.” Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific–At-
lanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148, 157, 128 S. Ct. 761, 169 L.Ed.2d 627 (2008). 
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nance of class-wide issues with respect to the reliance el-
ement of their securities fraud claim, plaintiffs argued 
they were entitled to a presumption that all class mem-
bers relied on defendants’ misstatements in choosing to 
buy Goldman stock. The presumption derives from Basic, 
485 U.S. 224, 108 S. Ct. 978, and is based on the theory 
“that the market price of shares traded on well-developed 
markets reflects all publicly available information, and, 
hence, any material misrepresentations.” Id. at 246, 108 
S. Ct. 978. If plaintiffs in a securities fraud class action es-
tablish certain prerequisites—namely, that defendants’ 
misstatements were publicly known, their shares traded 
in an efficient market, and plaintiffs purchased the shares 
at the market price after the misstatements were made 
but before the truth was revealed—the court presumes 
the market price reflected the misstatements and that all 
class members relied on that price when they chose to buy 
or sell shares. See Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, 
Inc. (Halliburton II ), ––– U.S. ––––, 134 S. Ct. 2398, 2413, 
189 L.Ed.2d 339 (2014). 

 Defendants opposed class certification by attempting 
to rebut the Basic presumption. They presented evidence 
in the form of declarations and sworn affidavits that Gold-
man stock experienced no price increase on the dates the 
statements were made, and no price decrease on 34 occa-
sions before 2010 when the press reported Goldman’s con-
flicts of interest in the Abacus, Hudson, Anderson, and 
Timberwolf transactions.5 For example, as early as De-

                                                 
5 Both plaintiffs’ and defendants’ experts used “event studies” to 

determine whether an event or news report caused a statistically sig-
nificant change in the price of Goldman’s stock. An event study iso-
lates the stock price movement attributable to a company (as opposed 
to market-wide or industry-wide movements) and then examines 
whether the price movement on a given date is outside the range of 
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cember 6, 2007, the Financial Times ran a story suggest-
ing that “Goldman’s Glory May [B]e Short-lived,” due to 
numerous accusations that it “behave[ed] unethically and 
perhaps [broke] the law” in taking massive short positions 
in the U.S. housing market. The article questioned Gold-
man’s ability to “manage conflicts,” noting that “Goldman 
ha[d] been more aggressive than any other bank” in “ad-
vis[ing] a company on a transaction, financ[ing] it and in-
vest[ing] its own money.” Approximately one week later, 
the Dow Jones Business News reported that Goldman 
had been subpoenaed for its role in various CDO transac-
tions that presented a “massive conflict of interest with 
major liabilities.” Defendants’ expert presented evidence 
that Goldman’s stock experienced no price decline in re-
sponse to these or similar reports about Goldman’s con-
flicts in the CDOs. 

Because the market did not react to defendants’ mis-
statements on the dates they were made or on the dates 
defendants claim the truth about Goldman’s conflicts was 
revealed, defendants argued the misstatements did not 
affect the price of Goldman stock and plaintiffs could not 
have relied on them in choosing to buy shares at that 
price.6 

                                                 
typical random stock price fluctuations observed for that stock. If the 
isolated stock price movement falls outside the range of typical ran-
dom stock price fluctuations, it is statistically significant. If the stock 
price movement is indistinguishable from random price fluctuations, 
it cannot be attributed to company-specific information announced on 
the event date. See Mark L. Mitchell & Jeffry M. Netter, The Role of 
Financial Economics in Securities Fraud Cases: Applications at the 
Securities & Exchange Commission, 49 BUS. LAW. 545, 556–69 
(1994). 

6 Defendants challenged the materiality of the misstatements again 
in their opposition to the motion for class certification. Although ma-



69a 

Without holding an evidentiary hearing or oral argu-
ment, the District Court rejected defendants’ arguments 
and certified the class. See In re Goldman Sachs Grp., 
Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 10 Civ. 3461, 2015 WL 5613150 
(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 24, 2015). It concluded plaintiffs met all 
four elements of Rule 23(a) and established predominance 
under Rule 23(b)(3) by invoking the Basic presumption of 
reliance. Id. at *3, 7. Although the court acknowledged 
that defendants may rebut the Basic presumption by a 
“preponderance of the evidence,” id. at *4 n.3, it held that 
defendants failed to do so in this case because they “d[id] 
not provide conclusive evidence that no link exists be-
tween the price decline [of Goldman stock] and the mis-
representation[s].” Id. at *7. 

The District Court rejected defendants’ evidence that 
the price of Goldman stock did not increase on the dates 
the misstatements were made, because it determined they 
could have served to maintain an already inflated stock 
price. See id. at *6. It also rejected defendants’ evidence 
concerning a lack of price impact when the news reported 
Goldman’s conflicts in the CDOs, because, in its view, de-
fendants’ evidence was either “an inappropriate truth on 
the market defense” or an argument for materiality that 
the court “w[ould] not consider” at the class certification 
stage. Id. at *6 (internal quotation marks omitted). Even 
if it were to consider the evidence, the court held it did not 
rebut the Basic presumption of reliance because it “failed 
to conclusively sever th[e] link” between defendants’ 
                                                 
teriality is “an essential predicate of the fraud-on-the-market the-
ory,” it is common to the class and does not bear on the predominance 
requirement of Rule 23(b)(3). Amgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. Plans & Trust 
Funds, 568 U.S. 455, 466–67, 133 S. Ct. 1184, 185 L.Ed.2d 308 (2013). 
Therefore, the District Court correctly held that plaintiffs need not 
prove the materiality of defendants’ misstatements at the class certi-
fication stage, and we do not consider it on appeal. 
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statements and the market price of Goldman stock. Id. at 
*7. Accordingly, the court held plaintiffs were entitled to 
the presumption of reliance and certified the class. Id. We 
granted defendants’ petition for leave to appeal pursuant 
to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(f). 

DISCUSSION 

No one disputes that plaintiffs satisfy the four require-
ments of Rule 23(a). The battle is joined over whether 
plaintiffs can meet the predominance requirement of Rule 
23(b)(3), with respect to the reliance element of their se-
curities fraud claim.7 

I. RULE 23(B)(3) AND THE BASIC PRESUMPTION 
OF RELIANCE 

Reliance in a 10b–5 action ensures “a proper connec-
tion between a defendant’s misrepresentation and a plain-
tiff’s injury.” Erica P. John Fund, Inc. v. Halliburton Co. 
(Halliburton I), 563 U.S. 804, 810, 131 S. Ct. 2179, 180 
L.Ed.2d 24 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
“The traditional (and most direct) way a plaintiff can 
demonstrate reliance is by showing that he was [person-
ally] aware of a company’s statement” and purchased 
shares based on it. Id. But requiring that kind of proof in 
a securities fraud class action “place[s] an unnecessarily 
unrealistic evidentiary burden on the Rule 10b–5 plaintiff 
who has traded on an impersonal market.” Basic, 485 U.S. 

                                                 
7 The burden of proving compliance with Rule 23 rests with the 

party moving for class certification. See Levitt v. J.P. Morgan Sec., 
Inc., 710 F.3d 454, 465 (2d Cir. 2013). On appeal, we review the Dis-
trict Court’s grant of class certification for an abuse of discretion, and 
the legal conclusions underlying that decision de novo. See Barclays, 
875 F.3d at 92. When a case involves the application of legal stand-
ards, we look at whether the District Court’s application “falls within 
the range of permissible decisions.” Id. 
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at 245, 108 S. Ct. 978. If every plaintiff had to prove she 
relied on a misrepresentation in choosing to buy stock, it 
would effectively prevent investors from proceeding as a 
class; individual issues of reliance would overwhelm com-
mon ones and make certification under Rule 23(b)(3) in-
appropriate in every case. 

The Supreme Court in Basic sought to alleviate that 
concern by permitting securities fraud plaintiffs to satisfy 
Rule 23(b)(3) by invoking a rebuttable presumption of re-
liance. The presumption derives from the “fraud-on-the-
market” theory, which holds that “the market price of 
shares traded on [a] well-developed market[ ] reflects all 
publicly available information, and, hence, any material 
misrepresentations.” Id. at 246, 108 S. Ct. 978. As the 
Court in Basic explained: 

The fraud on the market theory is based on the hy-
pothesis that, in an open and developed securities mar-
ket, the price of a company’s stock is determined by 
the available material information regarding the com-
pany and its business. . . . Misleading statements will 
therefore defraud purchasers of stock even if the pur-
chasers do not directly rely on the misstatements. 

Id. at 241–42, 108 S. Ct. 978 (internal quotation marks 
omitted). 

 “If a market is generally efficient in incorporating 
publicly available information into a security’s market 
price,” the fraud-on-the-market theory assumes investors 
rely on that price as an “unbiased assessment of the secu-
rity’s value in light of all public information,” including 
any material misrepresentations. Amgen, 568 U.S. at 462, 
133 S. Ct. 1184. 

Basic endorsed the fraud-on-the-market theory and 
applied it to class action lawsuits for securities fraud. It 
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held that if plaintiff-investors prove that a company’s mis-
statement was public, the company’s stock traded in an 
efficient market, and the plaintiffs purchased the stock af-
ter the misstatement was made but before the truth was 
revealed, they are entitled to a presumption that the mis-
statement affected the stock price and that they pur-
chased stock in reliance on the integrity of that price. 
Basic, 485 U.S. at 247, 248 n.27, 108 S. Ct. 978. Under the 
Basic presumption, individual class members need not 
prove they actually relied upon (or even knew about) the 
misstatement giving rise to their claim; “anyone who buys 
or sells the stock at the market price may be considered 
to have relied on th[e] misstatement[ ].” Halliburton II, 
134 S. Ct. at 2405. 

The Basic presumption does not eliminate the pre-
dominance requirement of Rule 23(b)(3) or the reliance el-
ement of a 10b–5 action for fraud. It simply provides an 
alternative means of satisfying those requirements, ena-
bling class action litigation of securities fraud claims 
where none previously could have survived. See id. at 
2414. Accordingly, defendants opposing class certification 
may rebut the presumption of reliance “through evidence 
that the misrepresentation did not in fact affect the stock 
price.” Id. 

The “fundamental premise” underlying the fraud-on-
the-market theory is “that an investor presumptively re-
lies on a misrepresentation” that “was reflected in the 
market price at the time of his transaction.” Halliburton 
I, 563 U.S. at 813, 131 S. Ct. 2179. If defendants “sever[ ] 
the link” between the misrepresentation and the market 
price—by showing, for example, that the misrepresenta-
tion was not public, the shares did not trade in an efficient 
market, or “the misrepresentation in fact did not lead to a 
distortion of price”—both the theory and the presumption 



73a 

collapse. Basic, 485 U.S. at 248, 108 S. Ct. 978. “[T]he ba-
sis for finding that the fraud had been transmitted 
through market price would be gone,” and plaintiffs are 
no longer entitled to the presumption. Id. Instead, each 
plaintiff must prove she actually relied on defendants’ 
misrepresentations when choosing to buy or sell stock, 
which dooms the predominance of class-wide issues under 
Rule 23(b)(3) and defeats class certification. See Hallibur-
ton II, 134 S. Ct. at 2416. 

II. REUTTAL OF THE BASIC PRESUMPTION 

The parties agree that plaintiffs established the pre-
liminary elements to invoke the Basic presumption of re-
liance: defendants’ misrepresentations were public, Gold-
man’s shares traded in an efficient market, and the puta-
tive class members purchased Goldman stock at the rele-
vant time (after the misstatements were made but before 
the truth was revealed). The parties also agree that de-
fendants in a securities fraud class action may submit re-
buttal evidence of a lack of price impact at the class certi-
fication stage. The principal question on appeal is whether 
defendants bear the burden of production or persuasion 
to rebut the Basic presumption. 

Relying on Rule 301 of the Federal Rules of Evidence 
and language in Basic, defendants argue they need only 
produce—i.e., offer—evidence of a lack of price impact to 
rebut the presumption. Rule 301 states that “the party 
against whom a presumption is directed has the burden of 
producing evidence to rebut the presumption,” while the 
“burden of persuasion . . . remains on the party who had 
it originally.” FED. R. EVID. 301. Because it is plaintiffs’ 
burden to prove the predominance of class-wide issues 
and the reliance element of their securities fraud claim, 
defendants argue plaintiffs also bear the ultimate burden 
to persuade the court that the statements at issue affected 
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the market price of Goldman stock. According to defend-
ants, that rule comports with the language in Basic that 
“[a]ny showing that severs the link between the alleged 
misrepresentation and . . . the price received (or paid) by 
the plaintiff” is sufficient to rebut the presumption of re-
liance. Basic, 485 U.S. at 248, 108 S. Ct. 978 (emphasis 
added). Defendants contend the District Court imposed 
an impermissibly high evidentiary burden by requiring 
them to rebut the Basic presumption with conclusive 
proof of a lack of price impact. 

After the District Court granted plaintiffs’ motion for 
class certification, another panel of this Circuit concluded 
that defendants in a securities fraud class action bear the 
burden of persuasion to rebut the Basic presumption, and 
that they must do so by a preponderance of the evidence. 
See Barclays, 875 F.3d at 99. The Court in Barclays ex-
amined “the development of the presumption and the bur-
den the [Supreme] Court imposed on plaintiffs to invoke 
it at the class certification stage.” Id. at 100. It determined 
that the language in Basic that “[a]ny showing that severs 
the link” between the misstatement and the market price 
places a burden of persuasion, rather than a burden of 
production, on defendants seeking to rebut the presump-
tion, because it “requires defendants to do more than 
merely produce evidence that might result in a favorable 
outcome.” Id. at 101. They must demonstrate that the mis-
representation did not in fact affect the stock’s price. Id.; 
see also Halliburton II, 134 S. Ct. at 2405 (“[A] defendant 
c[an] rebut th[e] presumption in a number of ways, includ-
ing by showing that the alleged misrepresentation did not 
actually affect the stock’s price—that is, that the misrep-
resentation had no ‘price impact.’”). 
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The Barclays court also rejected the argument that 
Rule 301 of the Federal Rules of Evidence requires de-
fendants only to produce “some” evidence to rebut the 
presumption. Rule 301 contemplates that a federal statute 
can alter the traditional rule that the burden of persuasion 
remains on the party who had it originally. See FED. R. 
EVID. 301 (“unless a federal statute or these rules pro-
vide otherwise . . . the burden of persuasion . . . remains 
on the party who had it originally”). Because the Basic 
presumption is a substantive doctrine of federal law that 
derives from the securities fraud statutes, Barclays de-
termined it altered the default rule and imposed a burden 
of persuasion on defendants seeking to rebut it. See Bar-
clays, 875 F.3d at 102–03. 

That conclusion is consistent with the purpose of the 
presumption. As the Barclays court observed, the Basic 
presumption is essential in putative class actions involving 
securities fraud plaintiffs “who ha[ve] traded on an imper-
sonal market.” Id. at 101 (internal quotation marks omit-
ted). It would be “of little value” if defendants could over-
come it “by simply producing some evidence” of a lack of 
price impact. Id. at 100–01 (emphasis added). Accord-
ingly, the panel concluded that Basic and its progeny re-
quire defendants seeking to rebut the Basic presumption 
to “demonstrate a lack of price impact by a preponderance 
of the evidence at the class certification stage rather than 
merely meet a burden of production.” Id. at 101. 

Barclays makes clear that defendants seeking to re-
but the Basic presumption of reliance must do so by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence. See id. Although the District 
Court acknowledged that standard in a footnote its deci-
sion, see In re Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 
10 Civ. 3461, 2015 WL 5613150, at *4 n.3, it went on to find 
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that defendants failed to rebut the Basic presumption be-
cause they did not “conclusively” prove a “complete ab-
sence of price impact,” id. at *7. Because the District 
Court concluded its findings with these words, it is un-
clear to us whether the court required more of defendants 
than a preponderance of the evidence. We therefore va-
cate the District Court’s order and remand for it to recon-
sider defendants’ evidence in light of the Barclays stand-
ard. 

III. DEFENDANTS’ PRICE IMPACT EVIDENCE 

Because we are remanding to the District Court to re-
consider defendants’ evidence under the Barclays stand-
ard, one final issue regarding defendants’ rebuttal evi-
dence needs mention. In their opposition to class certifi-
cation, defendants’ expert presented evidence of 34 dates 
before 2010 in which various news sources reported Gold-
man’s conflicts of interest in the Abacus, Hudson, Ander-
son, and Timberwolf transactions, without any accompa-
nying decline in the price of Goldman stock. The District 
Court construed this evidence as “an inappropriate truth 
on the market defense” or as evidence of the statements’ 
lack of materiality, neither of which the court thought it 
could consider at the class certification stage. Id. at *6 (in-
ternal quotation marks omitted). We agree with defend-
ants that this was error. 

The “truth on the market” defense attacks the timing 
of the plaintiffs’ purchase of shares, not price impact. The 
theory is, essentially, that the market was already aware 
of the truth regarding defendants’ misrepresentations at 
the time the class members purchased their shares, mean-
ing the market price had already adjusted to the revela-
tion of defendants’ misstatements, and class members 
could not have relied on those misstatements in choosing 
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to buy stock. See Amgen, 568 U.S. at 482, 133 S. Ct. 1184; 
see also Basic, 485 U.S. at 248–49, 108 S. Ct. 978. 

Contrary to the District Court’s characterization of 
their evidence, defendants did not present a “truth on the 
market” defense. Defendants did not argue, for example, 
that Goldman’s conflicts of interest were already known 
to the market at the time plaintiffs purchased their shares 
of Goldman common stock. Indeed, it was undisputed that 
plaintiffs purchased their shares after the misstatements 
were made but before the truth was revealed. Rather, de-
fendants presented evidence that the market learned the 
truth about Goldman’s conflicts of interests in the Abacus, 
Hudson, Anderson, and Timberwolf transactions on 34 oc-
casions from 2007 to 2009, without any accompanying de-
cline in the price of Goldman stock. Defendants used that 
evidence to show that their statements about Goldman’s 
efforts to avoid conflicts of interest “did not actually affect 
the stock’s market price.” Halliburton II, 134 S. Ct. at 
2416. 

Although price impact touches on materiality, which is 
not an appropriate consideration at the class certification 
stage, it “differs from materiality in a crucial respect.” Id. 
Price impact “refers to the effect of a misrepresentation 
on a stock price.” Halliburton I, 563 U.S. at 814, 131 S. Ct. 
2179. Whether a misrepresentation was reflected in the 
market price at the time of the transaction—whether it 
had price impact—“is Basic’s fundamental premise. It . . . 
has everything to do with the issue of predominance at the 
class certification stage.” Halliburton II, 134 S. Ct. at 
2416 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). If a 
defendant shows that an “alleged misrepresentation did 
not, for whatever reason, actually affect the market price” 
of defendant’s stock, “there is no grounding for any con-



78a 

tention that the investor indirectly relied on that misrep-
resentation through his reliance on the integrity of the 
market price”; the fraud-on-the-market theory underly-
ing the presumption would “completely collapse[ ].” Id. at 
2408, 2414 (internal quotation marks and brackets omit-
ted). 

Accordingly, the District Court erred in declining to 
consider defendants’ evidence at this stage of the litiga-
tion. We espouse no views as to whether the evidence is 
sufficient to rebut the Basic presumption; we hold only 
that the District Court should consider it on remand, in 
determining whether defendants established by a prepon-
derance of the evidence that the misrepresentations did 
not in fact affect the market price of Goldman stock. We 
encourage the court to hold any evidentiary hearing or 
oral argument it deems appropriate under the circum-
stances. 

CONCLUSION 

Defendants seeking to rebut the Basic presumption of 
reliance must do so by a preponderance of the evidence. 
See Barclays, 875 F.3d at 99. Because it is unclear 
whether the District Court applied the correct standard 
in this case, we VACATE the order of the District Court 
and REMAND for further proceedings consistent with 
this opinion.  
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OPINION & ORDER 

CROTTY, United States District Judge. 

The facts of this case are fully set forth in Richman v. 
Goldman Sachs, 868 F.Supp.2d 261 (S.D.N.Y. 2012), and 
summarized in the Court’s order of June 23, 2014 denying 
Defendants’ motion for reconsideration, In re Goldman 
Sachs Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 2014 WL 2815571, at *1–2 
(S.D.N.Y. June 23, 2014). 

Lead Plaintiffs allege that Defendants violated section 
10(b) and Rule 10b–5 promulgated thereunder, and sec-
tion 20(a), of the Exchange Act by making misstatements 
about Goldman’s conflicts of interest policies and business 
practices, revealed to be false by reports of government 
investigations into Goldman’s conflicted role in certain 
collateralized debt obligation transactions. 

Lead Plaintiffs now seek to certify the following class: 
“All persons or entities who, between February 5, 2007, 
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and June 10, 2010, purchased or otherwise acquired the 
common stock of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (‘Gold-
man’ or the ‘Company’), and were damaged thereby.” De-
fendants object. Lead Plaintiffs also request that they be 
appointed as Class Representatives and that the Court 
approve the firms of Labaton Sucharow LLP and Robbins 
Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP as Class Counsel. For the 
following reasons, Plaintiffs’ motions are granted. 

BACKGROUND 

Lead Plaintiffs’ current claims arise out of “material 
misstatements and omissions” Goldman made about its 
business practices and conflicts of interest. See Richman, 
868 F.Supp.2d at 276–80. Goldman made certain state-
ments such as: “We have extensive procedures and con-
trols that are designed to . . . address conflicts of interest;” 
“Our clients’ interests always come first;” and “[W]e in-
creasingly have to address potential conflicts of interest, 
including situations where our services to a particular cli-
ent or our own proprietary investments or other interests 
conflict . . . with the interest of another client.” Compl. 
¶¶ 134, 154. Plaintiffs assert that these statements were 
revealed as untrue when information regarding Gold-
man’s conflicts in certain CDO transactions reached the 
marketplace through SEC and DOJ announcements of in-
vestigations and enforcement actions against Goldman 
with respect to these transactions. Id. ¶¶ 324–37. Plain-
tiffs allege that when these “corrective disclosures” were 
made, putative class members were injured by a decline 
in Goldman’s stock price triggered by the revelation that 
those statements were false. Id. 

Plaintiffs allege four dates on which these alleged cor-
rective disclosures took place. On Friday, April 16, 2010, 
the SEC sued Goldman and Fabrice Tourre, a Goldman 
vice president, for fraud in the structuring and marketing 
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of the Abacus CDO. Finnerty Decl. ¶ 52. In addition to an 
SEC Litigation Release, the New York Times published 
an article about the SEC complaint; analyst reports is-
sued that same day commented on the SEC allegations; 
and Goldman committed to “vigorously contest[ing]” the 
charges. Finnerty Decl. ¶¶ 53–60. Plaintiffs’ expert, 
Dr. Finnerty, found that Goldman’s stock price decreased 
by 12.79% on that day, from $184.27 to $160.70, and expe-
rienced an abnormal return1 of—9.27%. Id . ¶¶ 62–63. Dr. 
Finnerty found that this was a statistically significant de-
cline. Id. ¶ 63. 

On Friday, April 23, 2010, after the market closed for 
the week, Reuters announced the filing of two shareholder 
lawsuits against Lloyd Blankfein, Goldman’s CEO, and 
other Goldman officials for breach of fiduciary duties, fail-
ure to exercise oversight, and failure to “ensure that Gold-
man did not represent conflicting interests related to the 
Abacus CDO transactions.” Id. ¶ 64. The following day, 
the Senate Subcommittee on Investigations released in-
ternal Goldman documents which indicated that “Gold-
man made money betting against the CDOs it sold to its 
clients.” Id. ¶ 65. Dr. Finnerty found a stock price decline 
of 3.41% on Monday, April 26, 2010, when the market re-
opened, and an abnormal return of—1.68%, which is not 
statistically significant.2 Id . ¶ 67. 

                                                 
1 An abnormal return “is the difference between the security’s ac-

tual return and its expected return. A security’s expected return is 
the return one would expect based on general stock market price 
movements and industry-related factors that are unrelated to the 
specific event that is being examined.” Finnerty Decl. ¶ 32. 

2 Plaintiffs appear to have abandoned their assertion that a correc-
tive disclosure was made on April 26, 2010. See Reply at 2 (referring 
to April 16, April 30, and June 10, 2010 as the operative disclosure 
dates). 



82a 

On Thursday, April 29, 2010, after the market closed 
for the night, the Wall Street Journal announced that fed-
eral prosecutors were conducting a criminal investigation 
into whether Goldman had committed securities fraud in 
its mortgage trading. Id. ¶ 69. The article stated that the 
criminal investigation concerned different evidence than 
the SEC’s case, but did not speak to which of Goldman’s 
deals were being investigated. Id. Standard and Poor’s, 
Bank of America, and Buckingham Research Group all 
downgraded Goldman’s stock after this announcement. 
Id. ¶¶ 71–73. When the market opened on Friday, April 
30, 2010, Goldman’s stock decreased 9.39% from $160.24 
to $145.20, and experienced an abnormal return of—
7.75%, which Dr. Finnerty found statistically significant. 
Id. ¶¶ 74–75. 

After the market closed on June 9, 2010, it was re-
vealed that an Australian hedge fund had sued Goldman 
for $56 million it had lost on the Timberwolf CDO and for 
$1 billion in punitive damages. Id. ¶ 76. Also that same 
evening, reports surfaced that Goldman’s Hudson CDO 
was the target of an SEC investigation. Id. ¶ 77. Dr. Fin-
nerty found that Goldman’s stock price decreased 2.21% 
on Thursday, June 10, 2010, and experienced an abnormal 
return of—4.25%, which Dr. Finnerty found to be statis-
tically significant. Id. ¶¶ 79–80. 

Plaintiffs allege that these declines occurred, at least 
in part, because Goldman’s conflicts and business prac-
tices statements were revealed to be untrue on these 
dates. 

APPLICABLE LAW 

Before certifying a class, a district court “must first 
ascertain whether the claims meet the preconditions of 
Rule 23(a).” Teamsters Local 445 Freight Div. Pension 
Fund v. Bombardier Inc., 546 F.3d 196, 201 (2d Cir. 2008). 
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This requires an analysis of four elements: (1) whether the 
class is so numerous that joinder of all members is imprac-
ticable; (2) whether there are questions of law or fact com-
mon to the class; (3) whether the claims or defenses of the 
representative parties are typical of the claims or de-
fenses of the class; and (4) whether the representative 
parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of 
the class. See Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(a). 

Once these requirements have been met, a party seek-
ing certification under Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3) must demon-
strate both that questions of law or fact common to class 
members predominate over any questions affecting only 
individual members, and that a class action is superior to 
other available methods for adjudicating the controversy. 
The party seeking class certification has the burden to es-
tablish by a preponderance of the evidence that the Rule 
23 requirements have been met. Myers v. Hertz Corp., 624 
F.3d 537, 547 (2d Cir. 2010). The Court may not make a 
merits determination at the certification stage, but may 
consider merits issues “only to the extent” that they relate 
to the Rule 23 requirements. Amgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. 
Plans & Tr. Funds, 133 S. Ct. 1184, 1194 (2013). 

ANALYSIS 

I. RULE 23(a) 

Defendants’ opposition to certification is based solely 
on whether Plaintiffs have demonstrated predominance. 
Nonetheless, the Court has rigorously analyzed whether 
Rule 23(a)’s requirements have been satisfied. See Sim-
mons v. Author Sols., LLC, 2015 WL 4002243, at *7 
(S.D.N.Y. July 1, 2015) (quoting Roach v. T.L. Cannon 
Corp., 778 F.3d 401, 405 (2d Cir. 2015)). The Court deter-
mines that the putative class meets the requirements of 
Rule 23(a): the class members are numerous; there are 
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common questions of law and fact; the claims of the rep-
resentative parties are typical of the class; and the repre-
sentative parties will fairly and adequately protect the in-
terests of the class. 

II. RULE 23(b)(3) 

A. Applicable Law on Predominance and Price Im-
pact 

The Court turns now to the heart of the parties’ dis-
pute: does the proposed class meet the predominance re-
quirement of Rule 23(b) (3). The predominance require-
ment “tests whether proposed classes are sufficiently co-
hesive to warrant adjudication by representation,” Am-
chem Prods., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 623 (1997), 
and the Court has a “duty to take a ‘close look’ at whether 
common questions predominate over individual ones.” 
Comcast Corp v. Behrend, 133 S. Ct. 1426, 1432 (2013) (ci-
tations omitted). 

“[A]s is typical with private securities fraud claims 
predicated on public statements, whether common issues 
predominate in this case depends on whether the issue of 
reliance will require individualized proof.” Aranaz v. Cat-
alyst Pharms. Partners Inc., 302 F.R.D. 657, 667 (S.D. 
Fla. 2014). In a securities class action, plaintiffs are enti-
tled to a presumption of reliance where they can demon-
strate that “the alleged misrepresentations were publicly 
known . . . , that the stock traded in an efficient market, 
and that the relevant transaction took place ‘between the 
time the misrepresentations were made and the time the 
truth was revealed.’” Erica P. John Fund, Inc. v. Halli-
burton Co., 131 S. Ct. 2179, 2185 (2011) (quoting Basic Inc. 
v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 248 n. 27 (1988)). The Court can 
presume that an investor relied “on a misrepresentation 



85a 

so long as it was reflected in the market price at the time 
of his transaction.” Id. at 2186. 

The presumption, however, is rebuttable. “[A] securi-
ties-fraud defendant can ‘defeat the [fraud-on-the-mar-
ket] presumption at the class certification stage through 
evidence that the misrepresentation did not in fact affect 
the stock price.’” McIntire v. China MediaExpress Hold-
ings, Inc., 38 F.Supp.3d 415, 434 (S.D.N.Y.2014) (altera-
tions in original) (quoting Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. 
John Fund, Inc., 134 S. Ct. 2398, 2414 (2014)). Proving a 
lack of price impact differs from proving a lack of materi-
ality—price impact refers to the circumstance where “a 
misrepresentation was reflected in the market price at the 
time of the transaction,” and the burden of proving a lack 
of price impact falls on the defendant. Halliburton, 134 S. 
Ct. at 2416–17 (citation and internal quotation marks 
omitted). Where a defendant puts forth evidence3 “that 
severs the link between the alleged misrepresentation 
and . . . the price,” City of Livonia Emps.’ Ret. Sys. v. Wy-
eth, 284 F.R.D. 173, 182 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (alteration in 
original) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted), 
a plaintiff may not invoke the presumption of reliance. 

B. Expert Evidence 

Plaintiffs have submitted the report and rebuttal re-
port of their expert, Dr. Finnerty. See Dkt. 137, 154. In his 
opening report, Dr. Finnerty examined the efficiency of 
the market for Goldman’s common stock during the class 
period. Finnerty Decl. He concluded that the market was 

                                                 
3 Defendants must demonstrate a lack of price impact by a prepon-

derance of the evidence. See Aranaz v. Catalyst Pharm. Partners 
Inc., 302 F.R.D. 657, 670 (S.D. Fla. 2014) (citing Basic, 485 U.S. at 
248); In re Moody’s Corp. Sec. Litig., 274 F.R.D. 480, 490 (S.D.N.Y. 
2011). 
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“open, developed, and efficient during the Class Period,” 
based on the five factors set out in Cammer v. Bloom, 711 
F.Supp. 1264 (D.N.J.1989), and the supplemental tests 
outlined in Krogman v. Sterritt, 202 F.R.D. 467 (N.D. Tex. 
2001). Id. ¶¶ 11–89. He performed additional tests, such 
as the put-call parity test and the random walk test, to 
gain further insight on the efficiency of the market, id. ¶¶ 
90–105, and ran statistical sign tests, id. ¶¶ 106–08, and 
parametric tests, id. ¶ ¶ 109–15. He also submitted his 
methodology for the calculation of economic loss per 
share, which he asserts will directly calculate each class 
member’s loss by means of a common methodology. Id. 
¶¶ 116–17. 

Defendants have submitted reports of three experts, 
Drs. Paul Gompers and Steven Choi, and Charles Porten, 
C.F.A. Dkts. 144, 145, 146. Dr. Gompers evaluated 
whether the alleged misstatements impacted Goldman’s 
stock price, whether Dr. Finnerty’s efficient market de-
termination was reliable, and whether Dr. Finnerty’s pro-
posed damages methodology would effectively calculate 
classwide damages. See Gompers Decl. Dr. Gompers as-
serts that the alleged misrepresentations had no impact 
on Goldman’s stock price when made, that the corrective 
disclosures had no negative impact on the stock price, that 
Dr. Finnerty’s market efficiency conclusion was flawed, 
and that Dr. Finnerty’s damages methodology is unrelia-
ble and incomplete, chiefly because it fails to account for 
inflation from the alleged misstatements. Id. Dr. Gompers 
applied his own regression model for determining price 
impact.4 Id. ¶ 25. 

                                                 
4 Dr. Gompers found slightly different abnormal returns on the 

three alleged corrective disclosure dates, but the differences in these 
numbers are insignificant. Gompers Decl. ¶¶ 64, 79, 89. 
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Dr. Choi examined the connection between the stock 
price and the “regulatory activities disclosed on the three 
alleged corrective disclosure dates.” Choi Decl. ¶ 14. 
Dr. Choi determined that the April 16, 2010 announce-
ment regarding the SEC’s enforcement action negatively 
impacted Goldman’s stock price “due to the heightened 
market expectations of the direct costs of resolving the 
enforcement action, the increased risks and exposure to 
penalties, the stigma associated with facing a highly visi-
ble and unusually severe action, the signal of future regu-
latory changes which would have a disproportionate im-
pact on Goldman’s business, and the possibility of future 
civil and regulatory actions.” Id. ¶ 66; see also id. ¶¶ 24–
54. Dr. Choi’s analysis determined that characteristics of 
the enforcement action against Goldman were associated 
with larger decreases in stock price, and that similar en-
forcement actions “are associated with” a decline of 
8.07%, which is “consistent with the observed price de-
cline of Goldman’s stock price” on April 16, 2010, which 
Dr. Finnerty found was 9.27%. Id. ¶ 47. 

Dr. Choi then determined that the decline on April 30, 
2010 was due to “the increase in the perceived likelihood 
of criminal charges, heightened risks and exposure to 
penalties, signal of wider governmental resolve to target 
Goldman, anticipation of shifts in regulation with a dispro-
portionate impact on Goldman’s business, and the expec-
tation of direct costs of resolving the possible DOJ inves-
tigation.” Id. ¶ 67, see also id. ¶¶ 55–60. He also deter-
mined that the June 10, 2010 decline following the report 
of an SEC investigation into the Hudson transaction oc-
curred because of “additional risk and exposure to penal-
ties, the compliance costs associated with the investiga-
tion, as well as the increased perceived likelihood of future 
regulations with a disproportionate impact on Goldman 
compared to its peers,” as well as the implication of “a 
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wider scope of expected additional regulatory and civil ac-
tions against Goldman.” Id. ¶ 68. 

Charles Porten examined securities analyst commen-
tary to determine whether the misstatements impacted 
Goldman’s stock price during the class period. See Porten 
Decl. He asserts that information that has an impact on a 
company’s stock price will be discussed in analyst reports, 
that no analyst discussed Goldman’s misstatements, and 
that analysts typically do not comment on the type of mis-
statements alleged here. Id. ¶ 12. Because of this finding, 
he concludes that the misstatements had no impact on 
Goldman’s stock price. Id. ¶ 62. 

Dr. Finnerty submitted a rebuttal declaration re-
sponding to Defendants’ experts. Dr. Finnerty deter-
mined that, taking into account their criticisms and 
reevaluating his previous examination, the market for 
Goldman’s stock was efficient and the company’s common 
stock was artificially inflated during the class period and 
dropped on the corrective disclosure dates because of De-
fendants’ false and misleading statements. Rebuttal Decl. 
¶ 3. He also argues that Dr. Gompers failed to show the 
absence of price impact because he relied on Dr. Choi’s 
allegedly incomplete opinion; failed to consider contempo-
raneous interest and breaches of business practices; and 
failed to consider that the extent of Goldman’s misconduct 
was not known to investors until April 16, 2010. Id. ¶¶ 176–
84. Dr. Finnerty also asserts that Dr. Choi did not “inves-
tigate the price impact of the revelation of Goldman’s 
fraudulent conduct on the three alleged corrective disclo-
sure dates,” and that he was “unable to separate the stock 
price impact of the announcement of any of the three reg-
ulatory actions from the impact of the disclosure of the 
underlying allegedly fraudulent behavior.” Id. ¶ 188. Fi-
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nally, Dr. Finnerty argues that Mr. Porten applied an un-
reliable methodology to his examination. Id. ¶¶ 196–01. 
He also asserts that his own proposed damages method-
ology is reliable, because he will estimate the amount of 
inflation when he submits a damages report. Id. ¶¶ 207–
08. 

Finally, Dr. Gompers submitted a reply to Dr. Fin-
nerty’s rebuttal, responding to Dr. Finnerty’s criticisms 
of Defendants’ experts and asserting that Defendants’ ex-
perts have demonstrated that the alleged misstatements 
had no impact either when made or on the corrective dis-
closure dates. See Reply Decl. of Paul Gompers. 

C. Price Impact Analysis 

Plaintiffs are correct that there is no real dispute con-
cerning the market efficiency for Goldman’s stock. Reply 
at 1 n.1. While Defendants take issue with Dr. Finnerty’s 
evaluation of the fifth Cammer factor (the relationship be-
tween news events and stock price movements), Gompers 
Decl. ¶¶ 97–117, they do not otherwise suggest that the 
market for Goldman’s stock was not efficient. The Court 
has reviewed Dr. Finnerty’s examination of the Cammer 
factors, as well as his revised approach, and finds that he 
has adequately demonstrated that all five Cammer fac-
tors have been met. Goldman’s stock experienced high 
weekly trading volumes, a large number of analysts re-
ported on Goldman stock, a number of market makers 
traded in Goldman’s stock, Goldman was eligible to file a 
Form S–3 registration, and Goldman’s common stock re-
acted to new unexpected Goldman-specific information, 
all during the class period. See Cammer v. Bloom, 711 
F.Supp.2d 1264, 1286–87 (D. N.J. 1989). 

The Court determines that Defendants have failed to 
demonstrate a complete lack of price impact. Defendants 
cannot show that the total decline in the stock price on the 
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corrective disclosure dates is attributable simply to the 
market reaction to the announcement of enforcement ac-
tions and not to the revelation to the market that Goldman 
had made material misstatements about its conflicts of in-
terest policies and business practices. First, that the mis-
statements had no impact on the stock price when made 
is insignificant. Plaintiffs’ argument is that the misstate-
ments simply served to maintain an already inflated stock 
price. Reply at 7–8; Rebuttal Decl. ¶¶ 204–05. Price im-
pact “can be shown by a stock price reaction either at the 
time of the statement or at the time of the corrective dis-
closure, [and] analysis of price impact usually focuses on 
stock price movement at the time the truth is disclosed,” 
Pl. Mem. at 16 (emphasis omitted) (citing cases), and so 
the fact that there was no stock price increase when the 
statements were made does not suggest a lack of price im-
pact. See, e.g., City of Livonia, 284 F.R.D. at 182. 

Next, Defendants’ demonstration of 34 separate dates 
prior to April 16, 2010, which allegedly revealed that Gold-
man had acted against clients’ interest and on which there 
was no movement in Goldman’s stock price, does not show 
a lack of price impact. This is because the argument is an 
inappropriate “truth on the market” defense, which at-
tempts to demonstrate that the “ ‘news of the [truth] cred-
ibly entered the market and dissipated the effects of 
[prior] misstatements,’” and is not appropriate at the class 
certification stage. Reply at 5–6 (quoting Amgen, 133 S. 
Ct. at 1204) (citation omitted). Defendants object to this 
characterization and argue instead that “the lack of inves-
tor reaction to prior allegations of Goldman Sachs’ con-
flicts shows that there was no inflation to dissipate,” Def. 
Sur Reply at 3 n.5, and that it demonstrates that “the mar-
ket placed no detectable value on revelations that Gold-
man allegedly had conflicts of interest with its clients,” 
Reply Decl. of Paul Gompers ¶ 4. But this speaks to the 
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statements’ materiality and not price impact, and accord-
ingly the Court will not consider this information at the 
current stage of the litigation. Even if the Court were to 
consider it, the lack of stock price reaction on dates where 
different forms and degrees of misstatements were re-
vealed does not demand the conclusion that on the alleged 
corrective disclosure dates where there was a stock price 
reaction, it was due entirely to alternative causes. 

Defendants argue that Dr. Gompers demonstrated the 
absence of price impact by analyzing the focus of market 
commentary on Goldman on the corrective disclosure 
dates and whether market commentary discussed the im-
pact of revelations about misstatements on the stock 
price. But whether or not the market was focused to some 
degree on the impact the enforcement actions would have 
on the stock price does not mean that no decline in stock 
price is attributable to the revelation of misstatements. 
Dr. Gompers’ analysis fails to demonstrate that no part of 
the decline was caused by the corrective disclosure.5 Like-
wise, while Dr. Choi’s report focuses on the fact that the 
announcements of enforcement actions would cause a 
level of decline, Dr. Choi fails to demonstrate that it would 
cause the entirety of the decline that occurred here. See, 
e.g., Aranaz, 302 F.R.D. at 672 (“[E]ven assuming ar-
guendo that [an important company announcement] was 
substantially more important than the alleged misrepre-
sentation . . . , it does not follow that the misrepresenta-
tion did not account for any of the 42% spike in stock 
price.”). 

                                                 
5 Defendants repeatedly argue that the statements at issue are not 

actionable as a matter of law. Def. Mem. at 2–3 n. 1, 18–19; Def. Sur. 
Reply at 1 n.3. This argument is inappropriate at the class certifica-
tion stage and in any event has been previously rejected by the Court. 
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Finally, Defendants argue that Plaintiffs “have pro-
duced no evidence . . . linking the challenged statements 
to the April and June 2010 declines on Goldman Sachs’ 
stock price.” Def. Sur Reply at 2. This is incorrect. 
Dr. Finnerty demonstrated that, on the corrective disclo-
sure dates, information revealing the misstatements to 
the market was released, and the stock price dropped. 
The link is obvious, and Defendants have failed to conclu-
sively sever this link. Defendants’ attempt to demonstrate 
a lack of price impact merely marshals evidence which 
suggests a price decline for an alternate reason, but does 
not provide conclusive evidence that no link exists be-
tween the price decline and the misrepresentation. See 
Aranaz, 302 F.R.D. at 672 (“Because Defendants have the 
burden of showing an absence of price impact, they must 
show that price impact is inconsistent with the results of 
their analysis. Thus, that an absence of price impact is 
consistent with their analysis is insufficient.”) (emphasis 
in original). Halliburton II grants Defendants the right to 
rebut Plaintiffs’ invocation of Basic’s presumption of reli-
ance at the class certification stage. But here, where De-
fendants cannot demonstrate a complete absence of price 
impact, and where Plaintiffs have demonstrated an effi-
cient market, the Basic presumption applies, and Plain-
tiffs have demonstrated classwide reliance and predomi-
nance. 

D. Damages Methodology 

Defendants argue that certification is inappropriate 
because “Plaintiffs’ proffered classwide damages method-
ology does not measure damages resulting solely from 
Plaintiffs’ theory of classwide injury.” Def. Mem. at 23. 
Relying on the Supreme Court’s decision in Comcast, 133 
S. Ct. 1426 (2013), Defendants assert that Dr. Finnerty’s 
proposed damages methodology “does not explain how 
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Plaintiffs would measure damages caused solely by their 
current theory of classwide injury-general statements 
about Goldman Sachs’ business principles and conflict 
controls—as opposed to the SEC’s lawsuit and related in-
vestigations.” Id. at 24. 

But at the class certification stage, Plaintiffs must only 
show that their damages model “actually measure[s] dam-
ages that result from the class’s asserted theory of in-
jury.” Roach, 778 F.3d at 407 (emphasis added). Plaintiffs’ 
model does that. The possibility that Defendants could 
prove that some amount of the price decline is not at-
tributable to Plaintiffs’ theory of liability does not pre-
clude class certification. Comcast speaks to measuring 
damages stemming from the accepted theory of liability, 
and not the extent to which that liability can be proven. 
Moreover, any failure of the methodology to “disaggre-
gate the losses purportedly attributable to disclosures 
about government enforcement activities from those that 
Plaintiffs attribute to the challenged statements,” Def. 
Sur Reply at 5, would not defeat the class’s predominance 
because it would affect all class members in the same 
manner. Finally, Dr. Finnerty asserts that his methodol-
ogy will be able to account for any so-called inflation from 
the enforcement actions, Rebuttal Decl. ¶ 208, and De-
fendants have not suggested that such disaggregation 
would be impossible to determine. 

III. RULE 23(g) 

Lead Plaintiffs also move for Labaton Sucharow and 
Robbins Geller to be appointed class counsel under Rule 
23(g) and for Lead Plaintiffs to be appointed Class Rep-
resentatives. The Court must assess “the work counsel 
has done in identifying or investigating potential claims in 
the action; counsel’s experience in handling class actions, 
other complex litigation, and the types of claims asserted 
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in the action; counsel’s knowledge of the applicable law; 
and the resources that counsel will commit to represent-
ing the class.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(g)(1)(A) (internal numer-
als omitted). Thus far, counsel have satisfied these re-
quirements. See In re Crude Oil Commodity Futures 
Litig., 2012 WL 569195, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 14, 2012) (ap-
pointing co-lead counsel to address complexities of litiga-
tion yet keep costs to a minimum). 

Accordingly, Labaton Sucharow and Robbins Geller 
are approved as class counsel, and Lead Plaintiffs are ap-
pointed Class Representatives. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court grants Plaintiffs’ 
motion for class certification. The Court certifies a class 
of: “All persons or entities who, between February 5, 2007 
and June 10, 2010, purchased or otherwise acquired the 
common stock of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc . . . . and 
were damaged thereby.” Labaton Sucharow LLP and 
Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP are approved as 
Class Counsel, and Lead Plaintiffs Arkansas Teacher Re-
tirement System, Plumbers and Pipefitters National Pen-
sion Fund, and West Virginia Investment Management 
Board are appointed Class Representatives. 

The Clerk of the Court is directed to close out the 
pending motion at Docket 135. 

SO ORDERED.  
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT 

 
 

No. 18-3667 
 

 
ARKANSAS TEACHER RETIREMENT SYSTEM, 

West Virginia Investment Management Board, 
Plumbers and Pipefitters Pension Group, 

Plaintiffs-Appellees, 
 

Pension Funds, Ilene Richman, Individually and on 
behalf of all others similarly situated,  

Plaintiffs, 
 

Howard Sorkin, Individually and on behalf of all others 
similarly situated, Tikva Bochner, On behalf of herself 
and all others similarly situated, Dr. Ehsan Afshani, 

Louis Gold, Individually and on behalf of all others simi-
larly situated, Thomas Draft, individually and on behalf 

of all others similarly situated,  
Consolidated Plaintiffs 

v. 

GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP, INC., Lloyd C. Blankfein, 
David A. Viniar, Gary D. Cohn,  

Defendants-Appellants, 
 

Sarah E. Smith,  
Consolidated Defendant 

 
 

Filed:  June 15, 2020 
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ORDER 

Appellants, Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., Lloyd C. 
Blankfein, David A. Viniar and Gary D. Cohn, filed a peti-
tion for panel rehearing, or, in the alternative, for rehear-
ing en banc. The panel that determined the appeal has 
considered the request for panel rehearing, and the active 
members of the Court have considered the request for re-
hearing en banc. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the petition is de-
nied. 

  FOR THE COURT: 

  Catherine O’Hagan Wolfe, Clerk 
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